
 

WORK SESSION 

November 08, 2021 
10:00 AM web version 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

To comply with the request set forth by the Chairman of Dougherty County, GA and the 
guidelines of the Center for Disease Control (CDC) regarding the Coronavirus (COVID19) 
pandemic and social distancing, face coverings (masks) are required for all meeting participants. 

 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Christopher Cohilas. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Minutes. 

a. Minutes of the October 18th Regular Meeting and October 25th Work Session. 

4. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

a. William Wright, dba Afram-Tech, Inc. present to provide guidance on SPLOST 
implementation. 

b. Consultant Ed Wall present to provide an update regarding the millage rate, property 
taxes and tax digest.   

5. Purchases. 

a. Recommendation to approve the proposal for Dougherty County’s Property/Casualty 
Insurance & Risk Management Services Broker from the most responsive vendor 
Alliant (Charlotte, NC) at an annualized fee of $69,750.  Two brokers were selected 
as finalists.  Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison and Principal Consultant 
Jim Britt will address.  PAG Committee Members, City of Albany Buyer  
Joshua Williams, Chief Jailer John Ostrander and HR Specialist II Tewonda Daniels 
are present. 

1



6. Additional Business. 

a. Recommendation to approve the proposed Alcoholic Beverage License renewals for 
Calendar Year 2022.  Chief Anthony Donaldson, Business and License Support 
Department is present to address.  

b. Recommendation to accept the Right Of Way Maintenance Agreement between the 
Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) and Dougherty County, Georgia 
relative to the roundabout landscaping maintenance for SR 133 at CR 234/Lovers 
Lane Road.  The County will be responsible for maintaining the landscaping that will 
be installed during construction in the center of and around the roundabout.  GDOT 
will be responsible for the installation of the landscape items.  County Engineer 
Jeremy Brown and GDOT Project Manager Jonathan Dechko are present. 

c. Review of three Stormwater Facility Maintenance Agreements between Pratt 
Properties, Inc, Robert K. Taylor and Boyd EA, LLC and Dougherty County, 
Georgia.  Jeremy Brown, County Engineer and Bradd Little, Engineering Specialist 
will address. 

d. Continued discussion of the proposed ARPA Project Spending Plan.  County 
Administrator Michael McCoy and CORE Group of GA Consultant Latoya Cutts will 
address. 

e. Recommendation to review both a proposed Settlement Letter from the law firm of 
Blasingame, Burch, Garrard & Ashley, P.C. and a proposed Resolution relative to 
Dougherty County's previously filed Opiate litigation against certain manufacturers 
and distributors of prescription Opioids.  County Attorney Spencer Lee will address. 

7. Board Appointments. 

a. County Clerk Jawahn Ware will address. Pages for each board are 
indicated below.  

Joint Board of Adjustments & Appeals – Three (3) appointments: two (2) 
joint appointments with a three-year term ending on October 1, 2024, and 
one (1) joint appointment with an unexpired three-year term ending  
October 1, 2022.  Incumbents Stephen Dew and Ronald Smith desire 
reappointment. No new applicants.  Will re-advertise for one vacancy.  All 
joint appointments must be ratified by the City of Albany.  See board packet 
page #1. 

Air Conditioning, Heating, & Ventilation Board – Four (4) appointments: 
one (1) County, two (2) joint, and one (1) rotational, all with a one-year term 
ending December 31, 2022.  Incumbents Thomas Driggers (joint),  
Clint Newsome (joint) and Clifford Tolbert (rotational) desire 
reappointment.  No new applicants.  Will re-advertise for one vacancy.  All 
joint appointments must be ratified by the City of Albany. See board packet 
page #5. 

  

2



Dougherty County Development Authority – Five (5) appointments: four 
(4) with a four–year term ending December 31, 2025, and one (1) 
appointment with a four-year unexpired term ending December 31, 
2023.  Incumbents Peter Akinnubi and Charles “Bruce” Capps desire 
reappointment.  Incumbents Winifred Benson and J.C. Odom, Jr do not 
desire reappointment.  Incumbent Frank Williamson resigned from the 
board.  Two new applicants: Felicia Brown and Demetrius Love.  Will  
re-advertise for one vacancy.  See board packet page #13. 

Electrical Board – Five (5) appointments: one (1) County appointment for 
a Master Electrician, two (2) joint appointments for an Electrical Supplier, 
one (1) joint appointment for a Professional Engineer and one (1) 
appointment for a joint citizen member, all with a one-year term ending 
December 31, 2022.  Incumbent Sanford Hillsman (joint citizen member) 
desires reappointment. (One County appointment for a Master Electrician 
and three appointments for joint Electrical Suppliers).  No new 
applicants.  Will re-advertise for four vacancies.  All joint appointments must 
be ratified by the City of Albany.   See board packet page #23. 

Flood Plain Management Review Board – Three (3) County 
appointments with a three-year term ending December 31, 
2024.  Incumbent Tod Lanier desires reappointment.  There was no 
response from incumbent Marveyln Boyette.  No new applicants.  Will  
re-advertise for two vacancies.   See board packet page #27. 

Gas Board – Three (3) appointments: one (1) County, one (1) joint and one 
(1) rotational with a one-year term ending December 31, 
2022.  Incumbents Sanford Hillsman (county) and Rhett Parker (joint) 
desire reappointment.  No new applicants.  Will re-advertise for one 
vacancy.  All joint appointments must be ratified by the City of Albany.   See 
board packet page #31. 

Dougherty County Health Department- Two (2) appointments with a six-
year term ending December 31, 2027, one appointment is the Chairman’s 
designee (appointee must be a Commissioner).  Incumbents Commissioner 
Russell Gray (Chairman designee) and Wilbert Moore desire 
reappointment.  Two new applicants: Felicia Brown and  
Dr. Tamara Davis.  See board packet page #37. 

Keep Albany-Dougherty Beautiful – Two (2) appointments with a three-
year term ending December 31, 2024.  Incumbent Robert Metts desires 
reappointment.  Incumbent Virginia Johnson does not desire 
reappointment.  KADB recommends reappointment of Mr. Metts and 
recommends Bryant Harden to replace Virginia Johnson.   See board 
packet page #51. 

Library Board – (2) appointments with a three-year term ending December 
31, 2024, one appointment must be a Commissioner.  Incumbents  
Dr. James Hill and Commissioner Anthony Jones desire 
reappointment.  One new applicant: Felicia Brown.  See board packet page 
#57. 

  

3



Department of Behavioral Health & Development Disabilities Regional 
4 – (2) appointments with a three-year term ending December 31, 
2024.  Incumbents Gail Davenport and Debra Richardson desire 
reappointment.  No new applicants.  See board packet page #63. 

Payroll Development Authority – One (1) appointment with a three-year 
term ending December 31, 2024.  Incumbent James Griffin is 
deceased.  One new applicant: Felicia Brown.  See board packet page #67. 

Planning Commission - Two (2) appointments with a three-year term 
ending December 31, 2024.   Incumbents William Geer and  
Sanford Hillsman desire reappointment.  One new applicant:  
Demetrius Love. See board packet page #71. 

Plumbing Board - Three (3) appointments with a one-year term ending 
December 31, 2022.  Two (2) County appointments must be a Master 
Plumber and one (1) appointment represents a citizen 
member.  Incumbents Lee Eppley (County, Master Plumber), Glenn Tyler 
Harris (Citizen Member) and Rhett Parker (County Master Plumber) desire 
reappointment.  No new applicants. See board packet page #79. 

Retirement Fund Committee – Two (2) appointments with a four-year 
term ending December 31, 2025, both must be a citizen 
appointee. Incumbent William Cooling desire reappointment. No new 
applicants. Will re-advertise for one vacancy. Commission Chairman 
makes all appointments.   See board packet page #87. 

Southwest Georgia Community Action Council - One (1) appointment 
with a one-year term ending December 31, 2022.  Incumbent Glenn Tyler 
Harris desires reappointment.  No new applicants:  See board packet page 
#91. 

Southwest Georgia Housing Task Force - One (1) appointment with a 
one-year term ending December 31, 2022.  Incumbent Sonya Johnson 
desires reappointment. No new applicants.  See board packet page #95. 

Southwest Georgia Regional Commission - Three (3) appointments: one 
(1) County, one (1) Chairman designee (appointee must be a 
Commissioner) and one (1) joint with a one-year term ending December 31, 
2022.  Incumbents Raymond Breaux (County) , Anthony Jones (Chairman 
designee) and Casawn Lhuillier- Yheyeis (Joint).  desire reappointment.  No 
new applicants.  The Chairman will appoint his designee.    See board 
packet page #99. 

Stadium Authority - One (1) appointment with a four-year term ending 
December 31, 2025.  Incumbent Chuck Roberts desires 
reappointment.  One new applicant: Dr. Tamara Davis.  See board packet 
page #105. 

Tax Assessors Board - Two (2) appointments with three-year term ending 
December 31, 2024.  Incumbents George Anderson and Wayne Shaw 
desire reappointment.  No new applicants: See board packet page #117. 

 

4



8. Updates from the County Administrator. 

9. Updates from the County Attorney. 

10. Updates from the County Commission. 

11. Adjourn. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to 
observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of 
the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at 229-431-2121 
promptly to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

5



 

 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

October 18, 2021 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty 

Government Center on October 18, 2021.  Chairman Christopher Cohilas presided and called 

the meeting to order at 10 a.m.  Commissioners present were Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, 

Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson, Anthony Jones and Ed Newsome.  Also present were County 

Administrator Michael McCoy, Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison, County 

Attorney Spencer Lee, County Clerk Jawahn Ware, and other staff.  The public and 

representatives of the media participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting on 

the County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.   

 

The Chairman noted a change to the previously published agenda where items pertaining to 

the Food Bank were removed and he asked County Administrator McCoy for an update on 

the recent incentive-based COVID event.  There were 875 individuals vaccinated and there 

were over 60 volunteers.  The Chairman recognized Commissioners Gaines and Jones for 

attending both events.  Community partners in attendance were recognized as well.  

Commissioner Jones asked that there be another event held on November 6th to be proactive 

for the holidays.  Mr. McCoy confirmed that hosting another event is financially feasible 

and Chairman Cohilas provided consent to proceed.  

 

The Chairman opened the public hearing for Lanier Engineering, Inc. (21-056) request to 

rezone 1.45 acres from C-5 (Office-Institutional-Residential District) to C-3  

(Commercial District). The property is located 2507 Fleming Road. The property owner is 

the Base Side Storage, LLC; the applicant is Lanier Engineering, Inc. (District 6).  The 

Planning Commission recommended approval.  Angel Gray, Planning Manager addressed.  

There being no additional comments regarding the proposed matter, the Chairman closed 

the public hearing. 

 

The Chairman opened the public hearing for Lanier Engineering, Inc. (21-057) request for 

special approval to allow the special use of self-storage (Mini Warehouses) in a C-3 

(Commercial District). The property is located at 2507 Fleming Road. The property owner 

is Base Side Storage, LLC; the applicant is Lanier Engineering, Inc. (District 6).  The 

Planning Commission recommended approval.  Angel Gray, Planning Manager, addressed.  

There being no additional comments regarding the proposed matter, the Chairman closed 

the public hearing. 

 

6

Item 3a.



The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the assessment and 

collection of an annual ad valorem tax to provide funds for the payment of the principal and 

interest on Dougherty County School District General Obligation Sales Tax Series 2021 

Bond in the amount of $28,565,000.  

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-054 is entitled:  

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS PROVIDING FOR THE ASSESSMENT AND 

COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL AD VALOREM TAX TO 

PROVIDE FUNDS FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF 

AND INTEREST ON $28,565,000 IN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL 

AMOUNT OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

GENERAL OBLIGATION SALES TAX BONDS, SERIES 2021. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to approve the alcohol application from  

Moree's Grocery & Liquor, Inc, Bettye J. Amburn licensee, dba County Line Liquor, at 4030 

Moultrie Road for Package- Liquor, Beer and Wine.  The Albany-Dougherty Marshal’s Office 

recommended approval. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Newsome, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to accept the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) 

Project 4297-0008-R Albany-Dougherty County Acquisition Project - Phase I Award in the 

amount of $3,327,308.48.  Director of Disaster Recovery & Grant Programs  

Georgia Collier-Bolling and GEMA Risk Reduction Specialist, Hazard Mitigation  

Monique McBride were present to address any additional concerns of the Board in emergency 

situations.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Commissioner Johnson seconded the motion.  Under 

discussion, Commissioner Johnson asked if there is an opportunity for the Albany/ Dougherty 

Land Bank to participate.  Planning and Development Director Paul Forgey said that they plan 

to make it an opportunity.  There being no further discussion, the motion for approval passed 

unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to accept the federal procurement guidance under the 

Uniform Administrative Requirements at 2 CFR 200.318 through 2 CFR 200.327, General 

Procurement Standards for federally funded projects, and the federal GSA scheduled rates 

for travel, retroactive back to January 1, 2017 for the Disaster Recovery & Grant Programs. 

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Commissioner Newsome seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, Commissioner Johnson asked the reasoning on the request to be 

7

Item 3a.



retroactive and Mr.  McCoy shared because we are asking for reimbursement funds for the 

storms.  He added that this keeps us in alignment with the County’s submitted requests based 

on these standards.  Lastly, he informed the Board that this is administrative housekeeping.  

There being no further discussion, the motion for approval passed unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution declaring the listed vehicles and 

equipment as surplus and authorizing the disposal of or sale of same via an online auction. 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-055 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE 

ATTACHED LIST OF EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES; 

PROVIDING FOR DISPOSAL OF OR SALE OF SAME VIA AN 

ONLINE AUCTION; REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to approve the State of Georgia Fiscal Recovery/ARP 

Broadband Infrastructure Improvements Grant. The total project amount is $15,588,140 with 

the County’s match being $1,001,346.  Funding will be provided by the American Rescue 

Plan.  The application deadline is at the end of the month.  Project Engineer Jeremy Brown 

addressed.  Mr. Brown said that this was based upon a Commissioner’s request to look at 

broadband in the unincorporated area of the County.  The project will reach about 90% of 

the underserved and unserved areas of the County. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Commissioner Johnson seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, Commissioner Johnson asked for an overview of the project.  Chairman 

Cohilas asked that GIS provide a map of the number of households that will be impacted in 

the service areas throughout the progression of the project.  Commissioner Jones wanted to 

confirm that AT&T is not the sole exclusive vendor.  Mr. McCoy provided additional 

clarification on the project and shared the future requests that will be presented to the Board 

for approval.  He also stated that this is the best process and practice because every county 

has to partner with a provider and our provider is AT&T.  Our proposal is very attractive 

because there is a vendor and local match.  Chairman Cohilas confirmed that this application 

is not guaranteed because it is competitive.  However, the Chairman asked that the grant 

application also emphasize the impact on the Marine Base.  Mr. McCoy shared that this is 

most counties' first real option to get broadband in the unincorporated areas.  There being no 

further discussion, the motion for approval passed unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the approval and 

execution of a Memorandum of Understanding between Dougherty County, Georgia and 

AT&T Georgia (AT&T) for the purpose of having AT&T design, construct and deploy a 

8

Item 3a.



one hundred percent (100%) fiber optic wireline network in the unincorporated area of 

Dougherty County, Georgia. Project Engineer Jeremy Brown addressed.  AT&T Regional 

Director-External Affairs Gary Sanchez and AT&T Director - External Affairs  

Brandon Hartley were present. 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-056 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE APPROVAL AND 

EXECUTION OF A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA AND AT&T 

GEORGIA (AT&T) FOR THE PURPOSE OF HAVING AT&T 

DESIGN, CONSTRUCT AND DEPLOY A ONE HUNDRED 

PERCENT (100%) FIBER OPTIC WIRELINE NETWORK IN THE 

UNINCORPORATED AREA OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY, 

GEORGIA;  REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF 

RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR OTHER 

PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the approval and 

execution of a temporary grading and slope easement agreement between Dougherty 

County, Georgia and Aldi Inc. (Georgia) on property owned by Dougherty County described 

as Liberty Expressway holding pond.  County Attorney Spencer Lee and Project Engineer 

Jeremy Brown addressed.  Mr. Brown said that this development of retail is by Buffalo Wild 

Wings.  

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-057 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE APPROVAL 

AND EXECUTION OF A TEMPORARY GRADING AND 

SLOPE EASEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA AND ALDI INC. 

(GEORGIA) ON PROPERTY OWNED BY DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY DESCRIBED AS LIBERTY EXPRESSWAY 

HOLDING POND; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR 

PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

9

Item 3a.



The Chairman called for consideration of the recommendation to approve the Putney Park 

Grant Application.  The County previously submitted an application for a DNR grant for 

improvements to the Park, but it was not accepted.  The scope of the project has been revised 

for resubmission.  The total project amount is $432,000 with the County’s match being 

$232,000.  Funding will be provided by TSPLOST.  The deadline for application is 

November 1, 2021.  Project Engineer Jeremy Brown addressed.  

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the approval and 

adoption of the five-year Comprehensive Plan Update and Community Work Program.  The 

plan must be adopted no later than October 31, 2021 by the County to maintain its status as 

a Qualified Local Government.  Planning and Development Director Paul Forgey addressed. 

Senior Planner, Carolynn L. Segers was present.  Mr. Forgey shared that this plan included 

the addition of a broadband component that Mr. McCoy previously mentioned.  

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 21-058 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION FOR THE 2021 FIVE-YEAR UPDATE OF THE 

2026 ALBANY –DOUGHERTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. 

 

The Chairman called for the zoning consideration of Lanier Engineering, Inc. (21-056) 

request to rezone 1.45 acres from C-5 (Office-Institutional-Residential District) to C-3 

(Commercial District). The property is located 2507 Fleming Road. The property owner is 

the Base Side Storage, LLC; the applicant is Lanier Engineering, Inc. (District 6).  The 

Planning Commission recommended approval.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

The Chairman called for the zoning consideration of the special approval request of Lanier 

Engineering, Inc. (21-057) to allow the special use of self-storage (Mini Warehouses) in a 

C-3 (Commercial District). The property is located at 2507 Fleming Road. The property 

owner is Base Side Storage, LLC; the applicant is Lanier Engineering, Inc. (District 6).  The 

Planning Commission recommended approval.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.   

 

Attorney Lee provided a redistricting update and said that each district except for District 1 

has lost people which equates to 9.3% or over 8,000 people lost.  He added that the county 

is malapportion and will have to redistrict to get as close as possible to 14,300 people per 

10

Item 3a.



district.  There were suggestions given and the preferred option is to proceed as we had the 

last 10 years and that was to appoint a redistricting committee to work with the Dougherty 

County School System.  This is also the request that the Dougherty County School System 

Board Chair Dean Phinazee is in favor of.   Lastly, Commissioners Gaines and Jones 

commended Mr. McCoy and his staff for a great vaccination event. 

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

11:10 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

 

 

11

Item 3a.



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

 

October 25, 2021 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on October 25, 2021.  Chairman Christopher Cohilas presided and called the meeting to 

order at 10:00 am.  Commissioners present were Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, 

Clinton Johnson, Anthony Jones, and Ed Newsome.  Also present were County Administrator 

Michael McCoy, Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison, County Clerk Jawahn Ware, and 

other staff.  The public and representatives of the media participated in person, via live streaming 

of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.  County 

Attorney Spencer Lee was absent. 

 

The Chairman asked the Commission to review the minutes of the October 4th Regular Meeting 

and October 11th Work Session Meeting. 

 

The Chairman recognized Dougherty County Board of Registration and Elections Chairman 

Bishop Frederick Williams to request assistance with funding to utilize the Albany Civic Center 

for the 2022 election year for advance voting.   Bishop Williams shared that the base rent to use 

the civic center for thirteen days for early voting in 2020 was $2,000 per day.  The total expenses 

plus rent were $34,895.25 but the use of the building was very advantageous.  He is seeking 

assistance for the 2022 primary and general elections for 17 days.  He added that he will also ask 

the City of Albany for help.  Comments and concerns from the Commission were addressed.  

Commissioner Gaines asked Mr. McCoy to seek funding from either grants or the American 

Rescue Plan (ARP).  Commissioner Gray was concerned about the increasing costs and not using 

the Candy Room for free.  Chairman Cohilas asked staff to vet and provide a recommendation and 

date for action.  Mr. McCoy shared that the last grant that was used is no longer available and 

ideally the City of Albany would agree to pay 50%. 

 

The Chairman recognized Paul Forgey, Director, Planning & Development Services to update the 

Commission on the State of Georgia's Tiny Home Zoning Regulation.  Mr. Forgey shared that tiny 

homes are not intended to be used as a permanent residence.  The building code definition 

describes a tiny home as 400 square feet or less and up to 12 feet wide by 36 long.  These are more 

appropriately used for the technical term of “factory built homes” and can be used in most building 

codes.  Some areas are creating Tiny Home Development for RV parks, small complexes and 

special populations.  Mr. Forgey’s recommendation is for the Board of Commissioners to ask the 

Planning Commission to develop the suggested amendment to the zoning ordinance for the 

regulation of “tiny homes” within the unincorporated county.  The other option is to adopt the 

state’s uniform code.  The Board was in consensus to forward the suggestion to the Planning 

Commission and Mr. Forgey shared that the earliest a follow-up could be provided would be in 

January 2022. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to purchase ten stainless steel 

toilet/sink combination units for the Jail from the single source vendor, Engineering & Equipment 

12

Item 3a.



Company (Albany, GA) in the amount of $26,950.  This vendor has provided the toilet/sink 

combination units for the Jail for over five years.  Funding is budgeted in SPLOST VII – Jail 

Equipment.  Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison addressed.  Chief Jailer John Ostrander 

was present.  Chief Ostrander answered Commissioner Edwards’ questions and stated that this is 

a sole source vendor.  

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to accept the conceptual construction 

and project cost estimates for a Stand Alone Coroner's Office and Facility (Morgue) in the amount 

of $1,255,460.  Funding is available in SPLOST VII.  Assistant County Administrator  

Scott Addison, Coroner Michael Fowler and Architect David Maschke addressed.  Mr. Addison 

said that this will be a standard facility that will function daily for the coroner's office space.   

Mr. Maschke provided additional insight on the construction and Coroner Fowler agreed with the 

concept.  Mr. McCoy responded by saying the increase of the cost is due to COVID, availability 

of materials, reduced labor pool and rising material costs.  Mr. Maschke shared that the estimate 

is based on today’s market and included the cost for furniture, etc.  The majority of the Board was 

not in favor of the plan and would like other options.  Commissioner Newsome stressed that the 

Coroner is $800,000 over budget.  After a lengthy discussion, the Chairman asked that this item 

come back to another work session to discuss other options and funding opportunities to include 

the possibility of seeking grants after it had been analyzed by staff.  The Coroner stated that he is 

here to serve the Commission and the community but reminded the Board that the current morgue 

is shared with Phoebe and they have inquired when Dougherty County will vacate the premises.  

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to accept the proposal for a 

comprehensive classification and compensation study for Dougherty County Human Resources 

from Management Advisory Group of Spartanburg, SC in the amount of $39,700.  Four firms 

submitted proposals with the recommended vendor being selected as the lowest responsive and 

responsible proposer.  Funding is budgeted in the General Fund.  HR Director Dominique Hall 

addressed.  City of Albany Buyer Joshua Williams was present.   Ms. Hall confirmed that this is a 

full study and responses should be provided between March/April 2022.  Commissioner Edwards 

stated that he would like for a Commissioner preferably one that is on the Finance Committee to 

be involved in this process.  

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to accept the proposal to provide 

Professional Services for an archeological study to construct a multi-use trail for Dougherty 

County from Southern Research, (Pine Mountain, GA) in the amount of $28,284.  Four firms 

submitted proposals with the recommended vendor being selected as the lowest responsive and 

responsible proposer.  Funding will be provided by the Special Services District with 

reimbursement provided by the EDA CARES Act for the development of trails at Radium Springs.  

County Administrator Michael McCoy addressed.  Director of Disaster Recovery & Grant 

Programs Georgia Collier-Bolling and City of Albany Buyer Kimberly Allen were present.  

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to declare the listed vehicles and 

equipment as surplus and authorizing the disposal of or sale of same via an online auction.  

Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison addressed. 

 

13

Item 3a.



The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to review and discuss the Quit Claim 

Deed from the Albany Dougherty Land Bank to Dougherty County, GA to transfer property 

located in Radium Springs for the purpose of providing recreational opportunities.  Public Works 

Director Chuck Mathis addressed.  Mr. Mathis stated that the location will be in Putney, Ga. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to discuss a countywide debris 

collection program.  Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison addressed.  Mr. Addison said 

that we were asked to look at debris collection and knuckle boom trucks.  The cost of the trucks 

start at $160,000.  There were several options presented it was shared that Public Works and Solid 

Waste currently do not have staff to operate the program.  Mr. Addison added that if the County 

does decide to proceed, it was suggested that a consultant be hired and there be a stand-alone 

department that operates as an enterprise fund.  An escalated discussion occurred and Mr. McCoy 

clarified that the staff is asking the board for direction.  Chairman Cohilas shared that this item 

will be held for a later discussion.  

 

The Chairman called for a discussion of the recommendation to discuss the proposed ARP 

spending plan.  County Administrator Michael McCoy and CORE Group of GA, Consultant, 

Latoya Cutts addressed.  Mr. McCoy said that three fiscal years of the proposed spending plan will 

be provided but he asked that FY 22 be the main focus.  He added that this is a fluid document 

because of the rules and guidelines that have not been approved.  Mrs. Cutts conducted a 

presentation and both she and Mr. McCoy answered questions of the board.  Chairman Cohilas 

said this warrants future discussions and would like other conceptual plans to explore more of the 

Commissions’ desires.  

 

Mr. McCoy provided an update on the dropbox locations for elections.  Commissioner Gaines 

asked for the next vaccination event to try to offer moderna vaccines.  She added that she would 

like to work with the County Administrator on aesthetic quality and what our buildings looks like.   

Commissioner Johnson asked some economic development questions and inquired about funding 

for the 3rd vaccination event in which Commissioner Edwards asked similar questions.  

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

12:53 p.m. 

 
 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

14

Item 3a.



15

Item 4a.



16

Item 4a.



17

Item 4a.



18

Item 4a.



19

Item 4a.



20

Item 4a.



21

Item 4a.



22

Item 4a.



23

Item 4a.



24

Item 4a.



25

Item 4a.



26

Item 4a.



27

Item 4a.



28

Item 4a.



29

Item 4b.



30

Item 4b.



31

Item 4b.



32

Item 4b.



33

Item 4b.



 

 
 

 

Dougherty County, Georgia 

Dougherty County Commission Agenda Item 

Date of submission:        November 1, 2021 

Date of meeting:             November 8, 2021 

Subject/Title:                  Property/Casualty Insurance & Risk Management Services 

                                       Broker Selection – RFP #22-019 

Presenter:                      Scott Addison, Assistant County Administrator  

                                       

Statement of Issue 

Dougherty County Procurement, with administrative support of the City of Albany 

Purchasing, solicited competitive proposals for insurance broker services.  

History/Facts and Issues 

Dougherty County has embraced a practice of utilizing a Broker Selection RFP process 

for insurance and risk services competition. This process mode was launched in 2013 

and the Board broker appointment duration is capped on a 3+1+1 five-year term.  

In 2017, the competition included a change to a calendar year for broker services while 

maintaining the insurance program year on the County fiscal year. Both the calendar 

approaches represent best practices in public entity risk management. Willis Towers 

Watson (WTW) won the Board appointment. 

In early 2020, WTW, the third largest global broker by revenue, entered into an 

agreement to be purchased by Aon, the second largest global broker. Dougherty began 

monitoring this pending transaction to assess WTW broker service commitments. After 

resolving EU concerns, Aon faced US restraint of competition legal action and withdrew 

its acquisition plan in mid-summer 2021.  

Prior to the withdrawal juncture, WTW had experienced erosion of talent including the 

Dougherty WTW public entity team in Atlanta. The team was blocked by WTW from the 

team’s desire to assume service of the County program. WTW had further talent erosion 

when the North American (N.A.) leader for its Public Entity practice resigned to join 

Alliant Insurance Services (Alliant). as its east of the Mississippi practice leader for the 

firm’s public entity practice. 

Dougherty was assigned a new WTW team. The replacement team did not meet 

Dougherty standards. The County Administration, with counsel from its independent risk 

management advisor, executed termination of the WTW contract as of the end of 

34

Item 5a.



 

 
 

calendar year 2021. This action was in lieu of waiting until the five-year cap at the end 

of 2022.  

A year earlier than expected, an RFP was published in August 2021. Six brokers 

considered the opportunity to respond, and four brokers submitted formal proposals. 

The two best proposers, Gallagher and Alliant, interviewed in Albany on October 26, 

2021. Based upon the evaluation scores of the Proposal Analysis Group for the two 

interviewed brokers, the recommendation for the broker for the next five-year cycle is 

Alliant at an annualized fee of $69,750. This fee is in line with the expiring $70,000 fee 

of WTW.  

  __________________________________ 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Scott Addison 

Assistant Administrator 

 

 

35

Item 5a.



36

Item 6a.



37

Item 6a.



38

Item 6a.



39

Item 6a.



40

Item 6a.



Russell R. McMurry, P.E., Commissioner
One Georgia Center 
600 West Peachtree Street, NW 
Atlanta, GA 30308
(404) 631-1000 Main Office

September 3, 2021

The Honorable Christopher S. Cohilas 
Chairman, Dougherty County Board of Commissioners
PO Box 2008
Albany, GA 31702

ATTN: Michael McCoy, County Administrator

Subject: Right of Way Mowing & Maintenance Agreement for Execution
P.I. 0015475, Dougherty County 
SR 133 @ CR 234/LOVERS LANE ROAD - ROUNDABOUT

Dear Mr. Cohilas,

Enclosed is a Right of Way Mowing & Maintenance Agreement detailing the maintenance commitments for the 
proposed landscaping and sidewalk on the above referenced project. 

A "T" intersection of SR 133 at Lovers Lane Road will be converted to a roundabout to improve queuing and 
delays on the Lovers Lane approach. The proposed project will construct a single-lane roundabout.

Please review the attached agreement and if satisfactory, execute the agreement within the Contract 
Authorization Tracking System (CATS).  Once the signed agreements are received within CATS, they will be 
routed for GDOT signatures, and then the Dougherty County will be sent one copy of the fully executed 
agreement for the project file.

If you have any questions about the items contained in this agreement, please contact the Department’s Project 
Manager, Jonathan Dechko, at (404) 865-3476.

Sincerely,

Kimberly W. Nesbitt
State Program Delivery Administrator

KWN:KESD:JTB:JFD:jl
Attachments

cc: Ivan Mason, District 4 Engineer
Jason Willingham, District 4 Preconstruction Engineer
Scott Chambers, District 4 Maintenance Engineer
Andy Doyle, State Maintenance Engineer

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

41

Item 6b.

kstovall-dixon
Initials - Krystal



Page 1 of 13

Rev: September 2020

RIGHT OF WAY MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT (LOCAL GOVERNMENT ONLY)

By and Between

THE 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND

__________________________Dougherty County__________________________

PROJECT ID # 0015475
PERMIT ID # N/A

STATE ROUTE: _133_, MP_1.06_ to MP_15.57_

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this _____ day of _____________, 20____ 

(“Effective Date”) by and between the DEPARTMENT of Transportation, an agency of the State of 

Georgia, hereinafter referred to as “DEPARTMENT”, and _Dougherty County_ hereinafter referred to 

as “LOCAL GOVERNMENT”.

WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT desires to enter into a partnership to perform certain services 

relating to maintenance within DEPARTMENT’S right of way, hereinafter called the “PROJECT”, 

and

WHEREAS, the PROJECT is associated with a permit approved and issued by the 

DEPARTMENT, permit identification number (PERMIT ID #) N/A, which is referenced above and in 

Exhibit A, MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT (MA) WORK PLAN, and is hereby incorporated into 

this Agreement as if fully restated herein; and

WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT has represented to the DEPARTMENT that it 

shall bear all costs and liability associated with the PROJECT; and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

42

Item 6b.



Page 2 of 13

WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT has represented to the DEPARTMENT that it is 

qualified and experienced to provide such services and the DEPARTMENT has relied upon such 

representation.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants as herein 

contained, it is agreed by and between the parties hereto that:

ARTICLE I

SCOPE OF PROJECT

The DEPARTMENT authorizes the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to perform or cause to be 

performed, the PROJECT consisting of certain services related to maintaining an identified section(s) 

of the DEPARTMENT’S rights of way.  This Agreement does not provide the APPLICANT, by 

implication or otherwise, any right, title or interest in or to the DEPARTMENT’S right-of-way in 

general nor to the PROJECT area specifically, except the right to conduct the PROJECT work set 

forth in the MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT (MA) WORK PLAN (Exhibit A) in accordance with 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  

The maintenance duties and responsibilities of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT are defined set 

forth in Exhibit A, MA WORK PLAN, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as if 

fully set out herein.  The DEPARTMENT grants to the LOCAL GOVERNMENT the right to 

maintain that specific section(s) of DEPARTMENT right-of-way located in Dougherty County, as 

more particularly described in Exhibit A.

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall abide by the Federal Manual of Uniform Traffic Control 

Devices (MUTCD) standards, current edition, for temporary traffic control and the standards for all 

PROJECT activities.  Equipment or materials utilized for the PROJECT must be moved on or across 

a traveled right of way in a manner as not to unduly interfere with traffic.

Should the LOCAL GOVERNMENT desire that these maintenance services be performed by a 

third party, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and the third party shall enter into an agreement, whereby 

the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall assume all responsibility for repayment to the third party for those 

services rendered as set forth in Exhibit A.  The Agreement between the LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

and any third parties to this Agreement, shall meet all operational and administrative requirements, 

including the provisions of liability insurance, as set forth by the DEPARTMENT.  All liability 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

43

Item 6b.



Page 3 of 13

associated with the PROJECT shall be borne by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and any third parties, 

as set forth in Article VIII, herein.

In the event the LOCAL GOVERNMENT desires to perform any major maintenance 

activities, including significant landscaping, installation or significant repair of fencing/site 

furnishings/murals/signs/walls/lighting, or any other activities that may interfere with traffic or 

pedestrian flow within the right of way PROJECT limits, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT understands 

and agrees that it shall apply for and obtain a permit in accordance with the current edition of the 

DEPARMENT’s Driveway & Encroachment Control Manual prior to performance, and execute a 

separate agreement with the DEPARTMENT associated specifically with such permit.

ARTICLE II

EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZATION

TIME OF PERFORMANCE

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall begin work on the PROJECT under this Agreement 

immediately after receiving a signed and executed copy of the Agreement, unless noted otherwise in 

Exhibit A or upon completion of the construction project associated with PERMIT ID #N/A.

The duration of this Agreement shall be for fifty years from the date above first written unless 

terminated sooner by the DEPARTMENT or LOCAL GOVERNMENT.

ARTICLE III

SUBSTANTIAL CHANGES

If, prior to the satisfactory completion of the services under this Agreement, any party materially 

alters the scope, character or complexity of the services from those required under the Agreement, a 

Supplemental Agreement shall be executed between the parties.  It is understood, however, that 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall not engage in any activities or conduct any work which would be 

considered to be outside the PROJECT scope of the permission granted to LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

by the DEPARTMENT.  Minor changes in the work which do not involve increased compensation, 

extensions of time, or changes in the goals and objectives of the work may be made by written 

notification of such change by any party with written approval by the other parties.

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

44

Item 6b.



Page 4 of 13

ARTICLE IV

ASSIGNMENT

It is understood by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT that the work is considered personal and, 

except as provided for in Article I, LOCAL GOVERNMENT agrees not to assign, sublet or transfer 

any or all of their interest in this Agreement without prior written approval of the DEPARTMENT.

ARTICLE V

CONTRACT DISPUTES

This Agreement shall be deemed to have been executed in Dougherty County, Georgia, without 

reference to its choice of law doctrine, and all questions of interpretation and construction shall be 

governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. Any litigation arising out of this Agreement shall be 

commenced within the State of Georgia. The foregoing provisions shall not be construed as waiving any 

immunity to suit or liability, including without limitation, sovereign immunity which may be available 

to the Department.

ARTICLE VI

INSURANCE

It is understood that the LOCAL GOVERNMENT is self-insured and all claims against LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT will be handled through ___________________________. 

Prior to beginning work, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall, where applicable, cause its 

contractors and subcontractors to obtain the following minimum amounts of insurance coverage:

(a) Workmen’s Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Georgia.

(b) Public Liability Insurance in an amount of not less than one hundred thousand dollars 

($100,000) for injuries, including those resulting in death to any one person, and in an amount of not 

less than three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000) on an account of any one occurrence.

(c) Commercial General Liability Insurance of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence 

$3,000,000 aggregate, including Automobile Comprehensive Liability Coverage with bodily injury in 

the minimum amount of $1,000,000 combined single limits each occurrence.  The DEPARTMENT 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

45

Item 6b.



Page 5 of 13

shall be named as an additional insured and a copy of the policy endorsement shall be provided with the 

insurance certificate.  

 The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall furnish upon request to the DEPARTMENT, certificates 

of insurance evidencing such coverage.  These certificates shall also provide that the insurance will not 

be modified or canceled without a 30-day prior written notice to the DEPARTMENT.  Failure by the 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT to procure and maintain the insurance as set forth above shall be considered 

a default and cause for termination of this Agreement and, if applicable, forfeiture of the Performance 

and Payment Bonds.  The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall, at least fifteen (15) days prior to the 

expiration date or dates of expiring policies, deposit certified copies of renewal, or new policies, or other 

acceptable evidence of insurance with the DEPARTMENT.

ARTICLE VII

COMPENSATION

It is agreed that the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall conduct all work at no cost to the 

DEPARTMENT, and without compensation from the DEPARTMENT.  It is further agreed that any 

and all issues relating to compensation and payment shall be resolved by and between the LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT and any successors, subcontractors, or assigns thereto.

The DEPARTMENT and the LOCAL GOVERNMENT further agree that, should the 

DEPARTMENT be required to conduct any inspections and/or supervision of the PROJECT beyond 

that which would normally occur in the ordinary course of the DEPARTMENT’S maintenance 

activities, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall reimburse the DEPARTMENT for such inspection and 

supervision.  The rate of reimbursement for the DEPARTMENT’S inspection and supervision shall in 

no case exceed a rate determined to be reasonable by the parties.

Should the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and the DEPARTMENT desire to change this 

agreement at a later date to provide for compensation to LOCAL GOVERNMENT, or any successors 

or assigns thereto, such change shall only be permitted by a supplemental agreement as set forth in 

Article III herein.  Any supplemental agreements involving compensation shall be subject to the 

DEPARTMENT review and approval.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

46

Item 6b.



Page 6 of 13

ARTICLE VIII

RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLAIMS AND LIABILITY

LOCAL GOVERNMENT NOT AGENT OF DEPARTMENT

To the extent allowed by law, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and all successors and assigns 

thereto, shall save harmless the DEPARTMENT, its officers, agents, and employees from all suits, 

claims, actions or damages of any nature whatsoever resulting from the performance of PROJECT 

work under this Agreement, or due to any breach of this Agreement by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT, 

except to the extent of harm caused by the DEPARTMENT or its agents.  These indemnities shall not 

be limited by reason of the listing of any insurance coverage.

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT further agrees that it shall be fully responsible for injury or 

damage to landscaping, landscape related items, and any other non-standard and decorative elements 

previously installed by or for the LOCAL GOVERNMENT within the right of way, and for any 

damage to the DEPARTMENT’S signs, structures, or roadway fixtures, if the LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT caused the damage.  

It is further understood and agreed that the LOCAL GOVERNMENT, or any successor or 

assigns thereto, in the conduct of any work involved in the PROJECT, shall not be considered the agent 

of the DEPARTMENT or of the State of Georgia.

ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION OF CONTRACT

The DEPARTMENT may terminate this Agreement for just cause or convenience at any time 

by giving the LOCAL GOVERNMENT at least thirty (30) days written notice of such termination, 

unless there is imminent or serious danger to the public health, safety, or welfare or to property, in 

which case termination shall be immediate.  Upon receipt of such notice of termination, the LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT shall discontinue and cause all PROJECT work under this Agreement to terminate 

upon the date specified in the said notice.  In the event of such termination, the DEPARTMENT shall 

be paid for any amounts as may be due it as specified in Article VII up to and including the specified 

date of termination. 

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time by 

giving the DEPARTMENT at least thirty (30) days advance written notice, provided that the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

47

Item 6b.



Page 7 of 13

DEPARTMENT is reimbursed in full for all services rendered pursuant to Article VII.  Termination 

initiated by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be contingent upon the following, if applicable:

A. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT, at the discretion of the DEPARTMENT, removing the planted 

landscaping, landscape related items, and any other non-standard and decorative elements that 

were installed by or for the LOCAL GOVERNMENT at no cost to the DEPARTMENT. 

B. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT restoring the removed landscape areas to their original 

condition or a condition that meets federal standards and is acceptable to the DEPARTMENT. 

C. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT restoring the removed non-standard and decorative elements 

with standard DEPARTMENT elements that meet federal and state requirements. 

D. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT reimbursing the DEPARTMENT in full any state and/or 

federal funds used to purchase and install the landscaping, landscape related items, and other 

non-standard and decorative elements that are no longer to be maintained by the LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT.

The DEPARTMENT and the LOCAL GOVERNMENT agree that should the LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT fail to perform the maintenance activities as set forth in Exhibit A, the 

DEPARTMENT may require the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to remove, restore, and reimburse 

according to items “A”, “B”, “C”, and “D” above, as applicable, and then terminate the Agreement. 

ARTICLE X

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW

The undersigned certify that: 

A. This Agreement is subject to applicable state and federal laws, standards, and rules and 

regulations.

B. The provisions of Sections 45-10-20 through 45-10-28 of the Official Code of Georgia 

Annotated relating to Conflict of Interest and State Employees and Officials Trading with the State have 

been complied with in full.

C. The provisions of Section 50-24-1 through 50-24-6 of the Official Code of Georgia 

Annotated, relating to the “Drug-Free Workplace Act” have been complied with in full.

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

48

Item 6b.



Page 8 of 13

ARTICLE XII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

A. NON-WAIVER.  No failure of either party to exercise any right or power given to 

such party under this Agreement, or to insist upon strict compliance by the other party with the 

provisions of this Agreement, and no custom or practice of either party at variance with the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement, will constitute a waiver of either party's right to demand exact 

and strict compliance by the other party with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

B. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES. Nothing contained herein shall be 

construed as conferring upon or giving to any person, other than the Parties hereto, any rights or 

benefits under or by reason of this Agreement.

C. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Agreement to the contrary, no term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted 

as a waiver, express or implied, of any of the immunities, rights, benefits, protection, or other 

provisions under the Georgia Constitution.

D. CONTINUITY.  Each of the provisions of this Agreement will be binding upon and 

inure to the benefit and detriment of the parties and the successors and assigns of the Parties.

E. WHEREAS CLAUSE AND EXHIBITS.  The Whereas Clauses and Exhibits 

hereto are a part of this Agreement and are incorporated herein by reference.

F. SEVERABILITY.  If any one or more of the provisions contained herein are for any 

reason held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any 

respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other provision hereof, and 

this Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never 

been contained herein.

G. CAPTIONS.  The brief headings or titles preceding each provision hereof are for 

purposes of identification and convenience only and should be completely disregarded in construing 

this Agreement.

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

49

Item 6b.



Page 9 of 13

H. INTERPRETATION.  Should any provision of this Agreement require judicial 

interpretation, it is agreed that the court interpreting or construing the same shall not apply a 

presumption that the terms hereof shall be more strictly construed against one party by reason of the 

rule of construction that a document is to be construed more strictly against the party who itself or 

through its agent prepared the same, it being agreed that the agents of all parties have participated in 

the preparation hereof. 

I. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations, 

discussion, statements and agreements between the parties and constitutes the full, complete and 

entire agreement between the parties with respect hereto; no member, officer, employee or agent of 

either party has authority to make, or has made, any statement, agreement, representation or 

contemporaneous agreement, oral or written, in connection herewith, amending, supplementing, 

modifying, adding to, deleting from, or changing the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  No 

modification of or amendment to this Agreement will be binding on either party hereto unless such 

modification or amendment will be properly authorized, in writing, properly signed by both parties 

and incorporated in and by reference made a part hereof.

THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.

SIGNATURES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE.

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

50

Item 6b.



Page 10 of 13

The covenants herein contained shall, except as otherwise provided, accrue to the benefit of 

and be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said parties have hereunto set their hand and affixed their seals 

the day and year above first written.

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

_______________________________________
Commissioner or designee

ATTEST:

______________________________________
Treasurer

LOCAL GOVERNMENT:

______________________________________

Print Name:  
Title: 

Sworn to before me this

_______day of _________________, 20____.

________________________________________

NOTARY PUBLIC

My commission expires _____________, ______.

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

51

Item 6b.



Page 11 of 13

EXHIBIT A

MAINTENANCE WORK PLAN

For all maintenance activities, at a minimum, abide by the Federal Manual of Uniform Traffic 

Control Devices (MUTCD) standards, current edition, for temporary traffic control. Move 

equipment or materials on or across a traveled way in a manner as not to unduly interfere with 

traffic.

 

Watering

 Provide adequate water to maintain healthy plant material

 Water in a manner that it does not endanger pedestrian or vehicular traffic

 Water according to the state or local government restrictions

 

Seasonal Color (Annuals and Herbaceous Perennials and Roses)

 Install and maintain plant material at a height that does not interfere with clear sight lines for 

both pedestrians and vehicular traffic according to the Department’s sight distance criteria

 Maintain bare areas in seasonal beds with a minimum 3 inch cover of mulch

 Cut back perennials each year after they are spent to keep the beds free of vegetative debris

 Maintain any rose shrubs at a height that will not obstruct existing directional signs or driver 

sight lines.

 

Pruning

 Remove dead or diseased planted vegetation.

 Prune trees, shrubs and ground covers to maintain the health of the plants and to maintain in 

the intended design character of the plant (no stump pruning or lollipop/ball shapes)

 Prune trees, shrubs, and ground covers as needed to remove damage by storm or accident 

events and to prevent safety hazards. Prune to maintain open sight distances, clear zone 

areas and traffic sign visibility. Provide clearance for pedestrian and vehicular traffic 

mobility.

 Prune according to American National Standards Institute, latest edition, A300 Part 1 

pruning standards

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

52

Item 6b.



Page 12 of 13

Plant Replacement

 Replacement of dead or diseased vegetation of planted material within the project limits is 

the responsibility of the LICENSEE

 Replacement plant material must be according to the Department’s landscaping policy 6755-

9 and Special Provision Section 702, attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

Exhibit C

 

Weeding

 Maintain right of way free of weeds, exotic and invasive pest plants, undesired vegetation 

and other noxious weeds

 All Pesticide/Herbicide use shall be under the direct supervision of someone with the 

appropriate Commercial Category 27 (right of way use) license.

 When pesticides/herbicides are being applied the person applying shall have in their 

possession all labeling associated with the pesticide/herbicide and their license/certification.

 Post warning signs for pesticide/herbicide use as required by state code.

 

Mowing and trimming of grass

 Maintain a neat appearance and clear sight lines for pedestrian and vehicular traffic.

 

Mulching

 Replace mulch in plant beds as needed to maintain an attractive, fresh look at a 2-3” depth

 Maintain mulch so that it will not spread or wash on to pedestrian paths or traveled lanes

 

Litter

 Completely remove all litter and debris and other objectionable material on site.

 Do not deposit or blow litter, debris and vegetation into gutters or drainage structures.

 Make disposal in accordance with local and state laws.

 Remove all graffiti within project limits

 

Installed Sidewalks/Multi-Use Trails

 Maintain and repair sidewalks and brick pavers according to the Americans with Disabilities 

Act (ADA)

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

53

Item 6b.



Page 13 of 13

 GDOT will not be responsible for damages to sidewalks/multi-use trails, amenities, etc. 

caused by maintenance activities on state right of way

 

Installed Non-Standard Fencing/Site Furnishings

 Repair and/or replace damaged components

 Repair or install a temporary construction work fence immediately if damage involves a 

safety issue

 LICENSEE is responsible for all maintenance of non-standard fencing/site 

furnishings/murals

 

NOTE: All major maintenance repair activities and activities that may interfere with traffic or 

pedestrian flow within the right of way project limits, such as travel lane/walkway closures, require 

the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to notify the Department at least 48 hours prior to the activity to 

coordinate and gain Department approval.

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

54

Item 6b.



E
X
I
S
T
 
R
/

W

E
X
I
S
T
 
R
/

W

EXIST R/W

EXIST
 R/W

EXIST
 R/W

EXIST
 R/W

EXIST R/W

EXIST R/W

EXIST R/W

EXIST R/W

PL

PL

ESA - RESOURCE 1

ESA - RESOURCE 1 ESA - RESOURCE 1

ESA - RESOURCE 1

ESA - RESOURCE 1

ESA - RESOURCE 1

ESA BOUNDARY - RANSOM HOUSE

E
S
A
 
B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y
 
-
 
R
A
N
S
O

M
 
H
O
U
S
E

ESA BOUNDARY - RANSOM HOUSE

ESA BOUNDARY - DIXIE HIGHWAY

ESA BOUNDARY - DIX
IE HIGHWAY

OPEN WATER 2

WETLAND 1

ESA BOUNDARY - DIXIE HIGHWAY

ESA BOUNDARY - DIXIE HIGHWAY

1
0
3
+
0
0

1
0
2
+
0
0

1
0
1
+
0
0

1
0
4
+
0
0

P
C
 
1
0
3
+
2
4
.
8
5

P
T
 
1
0
4
+
6
0
.
0
1

2
0
1
+
0
0

2
0
0
+
0
0

2
0
2
+
0
0 2
0
3
+
0
0 2
0
4
+
0
0

P
C
 
1
9
9
+
8
6
.
2
8

P
T
 
2
0
0
+
3
7
.
9
6

P
C
 
2
0
0
+
4
9
.
1
8

P
T
 
2
0
1
+
5
3
.
4
0

30
2+

00

300+00

301
+00

303
+00

304+
00

PC 300+34.77

PT
 3

01
+3

2.
85

PC
 3

01
+9

2.
07

PT 3
03+3

0.35

SR 133/NORTH JEFFERSON STREET

L
O

V
E
R
S
 
L

A
N
E
 
R

O
A

D

REQ’D R/W RE
Q’

D 
R/

W

REQ’D R/W

30 120

SCALE IN FEET

0 6030 120

SCALE IN FEET

0 60

SR 133 AT LOVERS LANE

05/24/2021
RIGHT OF WAY EXHIBIT

PI# 0015475

   3

   2

   1

PARCEL NO. 00137 00002 064

FOWLER IDA ENGLISH

N/F

PARCEL NO. 00137 00001 04A
RANSOM CLARA F

N/F

PARCEL NO. 00137 00002 063

HAMMOND SUSAN F

N/F

PARCEL NO. 00137 00002 062

FOWLER IDA ENGLISH

N/F

PARCEL NO. 00137 00001 006

SCOTTISH FREE MASONRY TEMPLE

N/F

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0E9E471-1928-4123-B900-303B5A4C391E

In Process

55

Item 6b.



RETURN'TO:
DOI.jGI{ERTY COI.JN'TY
2()3E NEWTON ROAI)
ALBANY, GEOIIGIA

ct-t:K, fu

association, agree th
require that on-site
and

WHEREAS, thc
be constructed and
homeowners associ

NOW, THERE
herein, and the

L The on-site sto
successors and

2. The

BLIC \,IIORIG

crogg

ldentification Nurn
Georgia, Deed Book

WHEREAS, thc is proceeding to builcl on and develop the pr.operty; and

WHEREAS, rhe Si PladSubdivision plan known as(Name of Fla ) hereinafter callec{ the ,,plan
-., .1- - n

of the property; and
by the c"u",y, p.-ouiaes for cletention of stormwater withitlT.t:::*::

approved or to be

WHEREAS, the Cou

downer is the owner of certain real property described as (Tax Map/parcer
) 00308100001/150 as recorded by deed in the ra.nd 

'ecords 
of Dougherty county,1954 Page 150, hereinafter callej the ,,propeftv,,.

ty and the
the health, gn^s, including any homeowners
.rnwarer m of.Dougherty Ctounty, Georgia,

and maintained on the propeity;

y requires that on-site storrnwater management facilities as shown on the plan
luately rnaintained by the Landowner, its"successors and assigrs, including any

in consideration of the foregoing Prenrises, the mutual covenants containedg terms and conditions, the partiei ir...to agree as follows:

water mallagement fbcirities shalr be constructed by the Lemdowner, itsigns' in accordance with the prans and rpecifications identitiea in the pran.

adequately mai the stormwarer management faciliti-es. fhisi
successors and assigns, including any homeowners associatiion, shall

other convey
v"v ouv'rrw4rsr rrranagenlent racrrltles, fhis includes allpipes, channels orbuilt to convey stor]nwater to the facilitv. as weH nc ril cra,,^+,,-^-

\rt[ tbr
ts0

ATER FACILITY MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT

THJS AC]TE
PRATT PROPERTI

, made and entered , ' I

s rNrr. h^-^:-^c!_-. lT: :rir .._ 
. 

.day of October, 2021, by and berween

lll;,, 
n.'"'nafter cat led the,,Lardo Jn";;, ;;; ;o U ;;ii,iiy' to^ r"lhereinafter called

WITNESSETH,

WI.IEREAS, thc

rmprovements,
uur'! Lu vurrvEy srormwa[er to the fhcility, as well as all structures,vegeration provided to contror the quantity and quarity ottrr. ,torrwater,

56

Item 6c.



5

3. T'he

4. The

like, the

9. This

6

1

shall provide
*l1i".y,.ff 

.;lr.:::::rors and ass i gns, 
"opi", 

or tn" i,.,, p"J ;; il [*#l'lff ,:"T:'J; ;1 :i : "::Tl1 *':::::; 
s that ."p^'.; ; ;;;; t."d,' il ;#l;

directive to mence with the repairs.

safe and
bernrs. outlet
inspection

authorized
management
Lanclowner

In the event
management
enter upon the
the inspection
and assigns.
permanent
management
obligation to
be construed

The Landow
facilities in
storm\,\rater
plalrs, the sc

Ceorgia, and
the Landowner

Adequate m tenance is herein defined as good working condition so that these fucilities arer design functions.performing th

annually and
, its successo:::i* assigns, shail inspect the stormwarer management facirity

rds ot' tion. The nllmose nf rhc ino^o^ni^* t^rds ot' tion. The purpose of the inspection is ro assureof the The inspection shat .ou". ih. entire facilities,d area roads, etc. Deficiencies shall be noted in the

l,:^,r::.r,.rors and assigns, hereby gr.ant permissi
ancr e mp r o y".,, io _ *,1,i; 

" 
ii d.i i,illT, TT i'j, lir,J_,,f" nH*#i

:l:'*i-1*."{i';yli.l-ruffi J'T#'TIffi:J",'jLi"'il'Hi::TX1l'Jagreed by the

he Landowner, its successors and assigns, fail to maintain the stormwaterrcilities in good w
propefty and take 

to the County, the County may
correat deficiencies identified inepoft ard to charge the cosrs of such repairs to the l-ando;;;;its successorsis provision shail not be construed to ailJw the county to erect any structure of

::,,?,L",h:, 
ti:O ol' the, Landowner outside of the .ur.r.ni fb;;" stormwaterln sr(Jflnwatgrcilities. lt is expressry u derstood and ugr..?d trrat trr"'"co,u.,f i. under noutinely maintain or repair said faciritie., 

"id in no event shall t[ris Agreernentimpose any such obligation on the Couniv.

rts successors and assigns, will perfornr the work necessary to keep theseworking order as appropriate. rri the event a maintenance schedure for the
Iement fhcilities (incruding sediment removar) is outlined orr the approved: willbe followed.

well as its successors and_.assigns, agrees to indemnify and hold harmressts, officers ard employees (individualli and collecrively);th"i,.rur..rror, ,ndspecr to all lity for any inluri"s- * uoy person) or damage f or in any *"y ";;";;ed with the:ivity at the fucility, The Landowner shall defendms and pay jse, intluding ,.uron"b[e aftorney fees

l:r.::,..* jlr^::.:'Tis.indemnity .*t"na, ro any alleged negrigence ofdesign or operation of snormwat", *unug**;'fh;ii;;. "ri.,l" 
riaffirryany damage, i^jury or loss due to the :xtaniof the negligen"e of Lountv.

shall be recorded among the land records of Dougherty County,tf"H,,:,*:,:":"-:*:l, 
Tnning 

with thelano, ana snarTueiinJing on

In ther event th
fi:*1*"0:i::*T:j,h':^1,qf:-*nt, p^erforms work of any narure, or expendsauy funds in formance of said work for i-uUor, urr'Jl"quilpment, supplies, materials, and the

withirr thirty ( XIT:,.;|':i:::T::.-and assigns,, shart reimburse 
'le'counif-upon 

dernand,) 9uv: of receipt oi'a reasonabry detaireJ-ffi"g-"ilil"ufiT;:H:
expenses, incl ing backup therefor, incurrecl by the County f"*"-"air.
Landowner, as
Counl;y, its
assigns, with
(including dea
Landowner's
against such cl
and all jud
Landowner in
does n,ot extend

interests, includi ;J;;r; ;.:;#:;i
; anyhomeowners association.

57

Item 6c.



WITNESS the foll

Signed, sealed and
in the presence of:

signatures and seals pursuanr to proper authority.

lvered DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGI,d

(sEAL)

PRATT PROPERTIES.INC.

WTTNESS

NOTARY PTIBLIC
Mycommission

Signed, sealed and
in the presence of:

A
WITNESS

NOTARY FUBLIC
My commission ex

ivered

58

Item 6c.



0m
P}''AT Bcoh S Fage 73
{}n.4/2612t}2A

After recording, relum to:

Ted Smith, Esq.
Paul, Hastings. Janofsky & W
600 Peachtree St. N.E.
Suite 2400
Atlanta, GA 30308

STATE OF GEORGIA

COUNTYOFFULTON

CONTAINER CO., an A
Gr,S.A.),Inc., 1800-C
(hereiuaft er called'.Grantor").
having a business address of
Conyers, Georgia 30013, as
"Grantor" and "Granlee" to inc
requlres or permits);

($ f 0,00) in hand paid at and
sufficiency of which are hereby
conveyed, confirmed AND
oontribute, conveyi confirm
and interest, if any, in and ro
Georgi4 being more panicul
made a part hereof, together
fixtures located thereon or

A1r-tl0,{9706 I

DCIC + fi!:r=?27
EI t_E:p I t.{ oFFr c E
Llf //r:tgi-2r:rr:r5 rlg: =:z AFt

FIF$FE;= - "fiilf c,:i=i' r-
C OUFiT
DQUGHERTY CCIUNTY
*+f.rv*-*
FHAL ESTATE TRANSFER
AX.
PATD! +?1 9-1r:l

Space Resen'ed for Recordinc

, LLP

ourTCLArMpEEn

THIS INDEN LE i.s made this 28th day of July, 2004, by TARGET
corporatiorl having a business address oic/o pratt Industries

TMuy:_Cgny:I, Georgia 30013, as parfy of rhe first part
favor of PRATT PROPERTIES, INi., abelaware corporation,

Pratt lndustries (11.SA.), Inc^, I g00-C Sarasota parkway,
f.of Fg second part (hereinafter cailed .,Grautse") (the words

the sealing and delivery ofthese presents, the receipt and
nowledged. has grantcd, bargained, atiened, contribured.

1L_tIj{ED and by these presenrs does grant, bargain, alien.
QUITCLAIM unro said Grantee, all ofbrantor'irigirr, tirle

-oertaill 
rgal properry lying and being in Dougherty Ciounty^

described on Exhibit A.. attached heieto anO tiy ttris reference

Tl *d all plants, rrees, timber, slrubbery, improvements, and
,d thereto, and together with any and all improvemcnts,

their respective succegsofs and assigns wh.r"'th" conterr:t

WITNESSETH,That:

GRANTOR. for in consideration of the sum of 'l.en and No/100 Dollars

59

Item 6c.



collectively referred to as

TOHAVE
persons claiming under
demand any right or title the Properfy.

rernses, and bmefits aprpurtenant thoreto (he,reinafter
"Property'');

TO.,H!LD the Property so that neithsr Grantor nor any
shall at any time, by any means or wsys, have, claim or

oN FOLLOWTNG PAGEI

60

Item 6c.



oxecuted under seal by its
above written.

Signed, sealed and deli
in the presence of

Patricia D, Showalter
Notary Public
My Commission Expires:

ATL /l 04970ri I

S WHEREOF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be
uly authorized representatives as ollthe day and yr- n.rt

GRANTOR:

TARGET COM'AINER CO.

61

Item 6c.



hhrt 'lr

{:f *si
Scqd fd
Ftrio-lFlt
F:q r lm
af Ir{.

]:#br
lEilc 4f se ro<t-rr t8 decEc 5! J-3q e; r:S-ZiG-i.-C

rn Q ?.:
IJ! rb.t trc

fffi,&T"35.e'"tab,"dr
rldA lridt s rqrllrateF sEq.€ tlec..--.r *r.*$$,J*+.t+ q

d+-;=_.t-E ;"Hl,#l H,EitlL..?

pltel €f Iad f).!B rd e f*,q* r . :ro la ii€ji; * -*.? ca=cy, c.*gL. ErE drclrd € 6lIG:

:tl3 f.it rlE *rnrd, qE G{ (qt eEtrlrr EEE P^rt/ o( tJE scqd iG D!, SulAI;i:;:i.d

+o th-golrc
{Gt{ 9E Sq*l

bccd E€k S!9;
Fftrt k F-
nil* rlsh.tlr
FclEfl'F
16cb

€<tE€ 5r
Iir€ .( nr
r-:rE 4
rS-dry ttrb

S&I}rd
Ft{qldy

lrq & IlF
of ldt

Frl rs'l F *or
:ca:.adrq3 {ra

a+d !.Els S15;
F:lnt 

'E3 
b.sr

oi+ or.Lslafl.

F:s ll5-2?
$rd| OO

As:E;qEE
f{E!!t d ad

AII I[: EK
sc'sL llrd
Falcidlr.ly

prel of lrd lyl,r{ -d Eing fq t&d fot fto ln ttE
* { B(.$-=*y cdEq, c<gtr, t=:ts at-- -' --
Lb.d ! fcll€

Fu r ire 1dl q.*r ttE st!|€t Fd<.( ttEc esdl,r Ec_t

62

Item 6c.



ailtarT .rr

63

Item 6c.



EllCI T:

,Ill tf,[r q:€ <
lD cf! <at&i

t€rErr€h-:u
d 69;-i{l f=: ro r ,

Cl=la- af :,frs-
sE:'g €l r dlse
0l:l-e! r€: t
Cia-rl= 59 siEd: ffi

{:t =is-.-='t'a:J€Ehd : €!*rr: of lle
!.i'5 C:5<-,!-\:C
!5i Fi l5o, :;+rzt fld
{-;, t534, 

= =t€tE.!E-- -r@55 !i-i=el e'E:dc I

Fg'rF rr:

Ftt{slxll| A<td

rjga:c of r.!a lIE of *
FinL' ce{---Ci.fi€
-*rs q{ !q' llE of j
dc+=sfi 06 :i-.^= rc<(steEE!€467_gltB
djs:::<i zi-? (ct
rErrtEty r!.!9 | qtR
iE:d a4 r.qiCr'1-r Ento I i={1c; sw r*r-
ie2-:7 ldbrFtn{-
BgE! a( lgz lEErD!r=: : C!i&e c< {t_Ctric 15Ii nE h r-

=:-\ 
tI. C--e 0t Eiflc

t:t{: qj --:I:- ljr= of r_u

5 5I l{.s -d Llq l' rrta rE tGI rd f

"frJ=:|q 

ccQct' c<gla.d Hq;=-

|4= r dirt : { t:! I(-x l' Us tstJ^v.,ld i:!ra-.!,Fejr s .JrL- 
=\ €g rjc-!:€q-.lE* !!sri, d'E- -6d =i,! Ofd ,:g;.i.

i b u: Filr_al r-.=i!r5i!3; aid Fcfr*y: * -: F--*_s a--=fl.3; 416 F=srrtya ! Pl{t dsrE F<tZ: c{ a i\-. .f t*dl I4a,
-t6t: 

!E+=i:i Gqd.i, c---EEj:. ir(.1 l=,
F4Ei5:GrC lJd S-EE, a e19 t{ rlridr

EcAJs&g rc rtE lrtcrudi-E llh titb &'
&rd, ard:ra tlgr

teref-

64

Item 6c.



RETUIIN TO:

Cilnut:
rcwd

THIS AGREE

WHEREAS, thE
Identification N

WHEREAS. the

horneowners

Plan be
including any

NOW, 'fH

I

DOUGHERTY COUNTY
2038 NEWTON ROAD
ALBANY, GEORGIA 3I

between ROBER
hereinafter called

WHEREAS, thc
the "Plan". which

County, Georgia,
rnaintained on the

WHERIiAS, the

contained herein, a

The o
its

zzo

WITNESSETH that

ORMWATER FACILITY MAINTENANCE AGREEM ENT

, tnade and
K. TAYLOR
e "County".

assoclatloll,

County, Georgia, Book 4263 Page Z20, hereinafter called the ,.property',

ner is proceeding to build on and develop the property; ancl

mdownel is the owner of certain r.eal property describecl as Tax Map/parcel
ber 075-2100000/070 as reco'ded by <ieed in the lancr r.ecords of Dougherly

te Plan/Subdivision Plan known New Convenience Store heleinafter. oalled
i expressly made a part hereof, as approved or to be approved by the county,

..-^^ ,
provides for deten on of stormwater.withiir the confines of the property; and

WHERIIAS. the county and the Landowner, its successors and assigns, inclucling any
rtion, agree that the health, safety, ancl welfare of the ,.rid*nt. of ooulnerty
:equire that on-site stoutlwater'. managernent facilities be corlstructed and
roperty; and

uttty t'equires that ou-site stormwater lnanagelnent facilities as shown on the
and adequately maintained by the landowner, its succes$or.s and assigns,

RE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the mutual covenants
I the following terrns aud conrlitions, the parties hereto agl.ee as follows:

ite stot'mwater tnanagement facilities Shall be constructed by the Landowler,
rsors and assigns, in accordance with the plans and specifii:ations identified

in the

65

Item 6c.



2. The
shall

)wnel', its successors ancl assigns, including any horneowner.s association,
uately maintain the stoflnwatel rnanagernent facilities. This includes allhannels or other conveyances built to convey stormwate' to the facility, as

lll.:t:if*:.11T-1:-".:*e^ts and vegetation pr.ovidect to contror the quantitylity of the sto'mwater'. Adequate inaintenance is herein d"f*il;t, ilicondition so that these facilities are perfor.rning their design fui"tions.

lowner, its successors and assigns, shall inspect the stounwater.malagerne't
annually arrd shall keep recorcls of the inspection. The pulpose of theon is to assul'e safe ard p'oper functioning of tlii facilities. The inspection
ver the entire facilities, berrns, outlet stlueture, pond areas, access roads, etc,
tcies shall be noted in the inspection repor.t.

vner' rts sucaessols and assigns, herbby grant per.missiorr to the county, its
agents and ernployees, to enter upon the propertv and to insnect the
rnanageulent facilities as the County rleern
that repairs are requirecl, the Cotrnty shall

arrd assigns, copies of the inspection findings

p1pes,

well
and q

worki

The
facility

shall
Defici

4. The
authori

witli l'epall's.

5 In the
storm
County
cotrect
lepairs
constt'n
of the
It is

det

The
ll.:.]tr^iil.essols and assigns, will perform the work rrecessary to keep

these ilities in good working rcler as appropriate, In the event a rnaintenance
scliedul

event the Landowner, its successor.s and assigns, fails to rnaintain thetter management facilities in good working condition accenfnhle rn rlle
th_e County may enter.uponr the property and take to
leficiencies identified in tl e inspeciion-r'eport and to charge the costs of such

the Landowrler, its sucoessors ancl assigns, This proiiuio' shalr not be
to allow the county to erect a'y structute of pennanent nature on the land

ndownet outside of the easement for the stonnwater lnanagelnent facilities.

T::ly. 
undelstood ancl agreed that the county is under io obligation to

maintain or repair said facilities, ancl in no event shall this Agreement be
to impose any such obligation on the County.

for the stormwater lnanagem€nt facilities (including sediment rernoval) is
on the approved plans, the schedule will be followed" 

-

'ent the county pulsuant to this agreement, per.forms work of any nature, ot
any funds in perfonnance .f saicl work for libor, use of equipment, supplies,

and the like, the Landowner, its successors and assigns, stratt reirnbur.se the
ron dernand, within thirty (30) days of r.eceipt thereof for all actual costs

outli

7. In the
CX

materia
County
incur by the County herennder.

halml
collecti
liability

r, as well as its successiors and assigns, agrees to indemnify and hold
the 

_ 
county, its agents, officers and ernployees (inctividually and

lly), their successors and assigns, with respect to all clairns, dernaircls or.
for a.y injuries to any pel'son (incr'di'g death) or. clamage to property,

arising of or i'any way corurected with tho Landowner's activitv af the

66

Item 6c.



stolm
and
jud

the

Land
O,:r:1_^,tf,.:. This indernnity exteicls to ,"v u-if'#a'n"griigence of

t lty does not extencl to any damage, injury or loss oue tJtue ;" ilil;"#:i

.rv6rr6vrrww vl

ff:j:i|1:_ L:::g or-operation of srormwater rnanagernlnt facility. This

ef lnanagemout facility, The Landowner shall defend against such claimsall expe'ses of suoh defen_se, including r.easonable ot-to*.y fees ancl all

'eeme't shall be recorded aurong the land records of Doughorty cou'ty,
3:':*:lj:":.,j,,'l:.1::y.-ll:"r 'unning 

with the lil, ;d1h;ii be bindingLandowner, its adrni'istrators, ,"""i,torr, assigns, t.ir* unl- 
^", 

'"in",
rs in interests, including any homeowners, associaiion,

This 
^A

Georgi
on the

9.

WITNESS the fol rng srgnatures and seals pursuant to pl,oper author.ity,

Signed, sealed and
in the plesence of:

DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA

WITNESS

NOTARY PUBLIC
Attest:

(sBAL)

Signed, sealed and ivered
in flte presence of:

AR PUBLIC (Seal)

By

67

Item 6c.



qJil

i)$etffi
{}ea 3lK7

4692 Fage 1.!t

Relutn to i\1u;gesorr,

F ' ' s,tr..t.-
sFs_L EFTATE TRftNSFERFAfD: $49-So

FT -61 047*pol_5-ctoE1,:J9

iri,\ssoi;a!es. p.C.
P O. Bu)i
Albanr itr -l I 7i)2

STATE OF GEORO
COLINTY OF ERTY

l-}tIS INDE
fifteen (3015), ber

a Geofgia [orpofa

of the County of
bereinafts'callcd G
respectil.e heirs.
or pennitsJ.

W]1'NES
($10.00) DOLLARs
hefcrre the sealirrg and
has granted bargained
grant, b,argain, sell. aJ

of land lying and bei
particularly described lbllor.r's:

Tract I: .4,11 of mv
lying and being in
Georgia and being
nrore or less o
Plat Book
Clerk's Office,

ftK

LI\TITI'D WARR{NTY DEED

Rli, rnade tlte _/-*6- - da1' of October, in the )rear h\.o rhousand anrl

CALLA WAY LAI\'D COMIPANY,

as part" or plr1ies oJ the tjrst part, hereinafrer called GRANTOR. and

ROBERT K" TAYLOR

ghert;', State of Georgia,,as party ot.parties of the second part,
NTEE (the rvords ,'GIIANTORU 

and ,,Cruq,Xf.fE,i to include theirrl represeotatives, successer.s and assigns rvhere the context requires

that: GRANTOR, fbr and in considerarion of TEN AND NOi 100iD OTHER VALUABLE CONSIDERATIONS i. r.n.a noir ar o-r
,l:.,.-,.. - a.r- -elivery ofthese presenls, the receipl whereofi
sold. aliened" conveyed and conhrmed, and
. conveli and confinn unto sai<i GI{ANTEE sll those tracts or parccds
in the Counry of Dougherry, and State of C.oigia, *d b.iug ,no,..

divided interest in and to all that tract
nd Lot 77 of the Second Land Distri
e particularly described as all of Lot 19

Si#"',ii","'ffi'"',1;"r:,["fi ln"il'*::l,'Jff ili;l'["j..li

68

Item 6c.



P,{GE TWO - LIIVI WARR{NTYDEEI)

Tract III All of
lying and being in
Georgia and
oonsistiug of 1,
plat of survey
Georgia Superior

undivided interest in and to all that trsct or parccl of land situate,
Land L<rt 77 of the Second Larrd District oi Dougherty County,

more particularly described as a ,(proposed Holding pond,i
acres more or less of Fieldstoneliubdivision according to a map or
rded_in Plar- Ii-ook lD VugrlXlb[i, irr*-D"*grrerfy County,
rurt Cllcrk's Offire.

nbers and appurtenances thereof. to the same being, belonging,
ining to tlte only proper use. benefit and behooi' of the saitl

ID GRANTOR pronrises or c.venants to clefenct title ro the rrroDerrv
uvlul olaims and dcmands of all persons claiming hy, through or una*i

TO HAVE A TO HOLD ths said rracl or par.cel of land. with all and
singular the rights,
or ln any\\'lse
GRANTEE. ibrever FIIB SIMPLE. srrhjcct onl.v to the matrers set ibrth herein.

AND THE S

from and againsl all
GRANTOR and o1ner.

IN WITT,N

and year lirst

Signed, sealed and ivered
in tlp presence of:

WHEREOF, the GRA\TTOR has signecl and sealed this deed. this dav
ntten.

&e fSeal)

ial Witness

Sworn t0 subscribed nle
this llr 1au u1 , ?0r5.

Notary Public
My cummission cxpit
(lmpress seal) This docuurent prepared by:

l.eigh Ann Flynn
JVlargeson, Flynn & Associates. P.C,
P.O. Eox ?68
Alban'y, Georgia 3 )?02-felepfuine: 

?29.883.53.50
Facsiniile: 229,883.5391
Ga State Bar No.: 470497

"GILANTOR"
CALLA1VAY LAND COM

BRIAN SERRA
Notary Public
Fult0n Coutity

69

Item 6c.



jitr
DDStt S0'! ?/iT
FTLES T[.$ SFFTf;E

' E,/]-?"{E*ES 8/-r :35r Pi'l
F${: dr,*,-JE F'G;F"X_- ?3
E#Di'll'lF S- l'lil_!Ll_
G! ERE"I nF [Sq.jF:T
SBUGHEHTY ISUF{TY

Return to:

Hall Williamson & Harl
P.O, Drawer ?0639
Albany, GA 31708

S'I'A'IE OF CEORGIA,
COUNTY OF DOUCIIE

THIS DECLARATI
2020, byROBERT

(Proposed Holding
Weymouth Drive,
Proposed Drainage
EASE]VIENT AREA
storm water from 1

WHEREAS, the p
purchaser of 1900
mortgagees, if any,
of ProposeclDrai
and occupantso a

arera com

of .Do

BOOK 4263, PACE 220

Pond), AND II PATEL, ADJACENT OWNER of 1900 Weymoutir Drive.

$TI'INESSETH:

W}IEREAS, ROB

oF PERPETUAL EASEMENTS is made and published this 2nd day of Marcll
TAyLo& owNER of 1g02 weymouth lirive, (proposed Drainage

tr K. TAYtoR, owner of real propefiy located at 1902 weymouth Drive
ond) AND BRTJESI"I PATEL owner of real properry located ar 1900
Ib1ny, Georgia upon which improvements are beiug made so that the
nd is now a retentionftrolding pond (hereinafter known as poND
an-d_, under the description of the pond Easernent Area as a repository for
) Weymouth Drive.

se of this Declaration of .Ferpetual Easemenfs is to grant unto any
Drive and the Proposed Holding pond, their successors, assigns,

well as all tenants and occupants, as well as to grant untcl any purchaser
Pond, their successors, assigns, mortgagee, if any, as well as all tenants

019, in Plat Book 8, Page 42 in the office of the clerk of fluperior court
County, Georgia.

ai non-exclusive easement to make use of the poND EASEMENT
AREA, as a reposi for stormwater from 19O0weymouth Drive and the prop,csecl Draimage
Pond, more particul ly described as follows:

That 20- strip labeled drainage easement, as well as the new/proposed drainage
ing 1.13 acres, as more particularly shown on that certain plat of survey

entitled r subdivision/Recombination Plat part Lot 19 Fieldstone subdivision,,
drawn by F W. Nash, III, Register.ed Land Surveyor No. 2g29, under date of
October 18,

1900 Weymouth ive is more particularly described as follows:

70

Item 6c.



t

J''

1902 w

NOW TIIE]3EFO
Drive and the Pro
valuable considerati
undersigned, indivi
EASEMENT AREA
EASEMENT AREA

All that tract
Dishict of
follows:
Fieldstone
5, Page 73,
Court Clerk'
seconds'Wes
degrees 43
way of Gilli
minutes 35
Weymouth D
Drive North
from said ooi
0l degrees I
point thence
from said ooi
a point; from
distance of 6
minutes 34
point being

Fieldstone S

2829, under
the office of

All crf the "p
Part Lot 19 Fi
Surveyor No.
Booh 8, Page
Georgia

The above d gribed property comprises 1.49 acres, more or less, and is shou,n on that
certain plat

parcel of land situate, lyir'g and being in Land Lot T7 in the 2nd Land
therty County, Georgia, and being mJre particularly described as

ing at a point which is the southeast comer of original Lot 19 of
iv_isjgn according to that certain plat and suryey recorded i'plat Book

lat cabinet i, slide B-55) in rhe Dougherty county, c.orgii s"perior
offrce, and from said point thence run trlorth g5, dlgrees Ig ninutes o:
a distance of 2.67 feet to a point; from said point thince 

^n 
]rlortt sg

nutes 13 seconds west a distance of 236.10 feet along the north right ofville Road to a poinu from said point,thence run Noih 49 degrees 43
onds west a distance of 63"62 feet to a poirrt on the east righr:rcf way of
ive; from said point thence pn nrong the east right of way lf w"ymouth
3 degrees 50 minutes 53 seconds East a distance of tz}.is feet to apoint;
t thence continue along the east right of way of weymouth Drive Norlh
rninutes 28 seconds East a clistance of 69,1i feet to a point; filom said
rnsouth 89 degrees 00 minutes 07 seconds Easr 16.00 feet to a point;
t fhence run south 89 degrees 00 minutes 0T degrees East 2TI.i5 feet to
id point thence nur south 00 degrees 43 minutls 12 seconds *rr, u
8 feet to a point; fromsaid point thence run south 00 degrees 57
rnds west a distance of 157.9g feet to a point on Gillionv]lle Roacl, said
Point of Beginning.

lsurvey entitled "Minor subdivision Recombination plat - pgrt Lot l9
division" drawn by Fenton"w. Nash, III, Registered Lancl surveyor No.

rey date of october 18, 20 r 9, and recorded in plut Book g, paie 3 g in
Cierk of Superior Court ollDougherty County, Georgia.

Drive (The Proposed Drainage pond) is d.escribed as follow:

osed holding pond" for "Minor subdivision Recombination plat -
dstone subdivision" drawn by Fenton w Nash, III, Registerecl Land
829, under sun/ey date of October l g, 2019, and r.*rd-"d in.plat
8 in the office of the clerk of superior court of Dougherty counql

in cansideration of the benefits accruing and flowing to 1900 weymouth
:dlloldingFoud from therse easements and $t.oo*anu other good and
ro the receipt and sufrrcienr:y of whicrr is hereby acknowledgedfthe
ally for themselves 'and their assigns do hereby agree that tf," polo

constitufe an appurtenance to 1900 use in common of the poND
a repository for stormwater.

71

Item 6c.



I

This Declaration
Weymouth. Drive

The rights, benefits,
and enjoyment of a

stormrvater runoff
aud to be stored in
excavation, grading
granted herejn shall
forthe full eni

herein and shall i
FOND EAS

Perpetual Easement constitufes a covenant running with and benefitting 1900the Proposed Holding Pond and mia*"ing the poND EASEMENT AREA.

vileges, and easement granted herein are for the purpose of the perpetual usemwater rnanagement facility and a[ appurtenant facilities to convey
1900 s/eymouth Drive and the rroposed Holding pond to be kansportedP'ND EASEMENT AREA togetrrer with the right to perform such

urd maintenance actir.iities necessary or incidental th.rrto. The easement
include all rights, benefits, privileges, and easements necessary or convenientand,se of the FOND EAI}EMENT AREA for the prrpor*, drscribecl
Ldlthe uecessary easements and rights for ingress and Lgress over trreARFA.

Ce--

(Seal)

(Seal)

The rights granted
use.

n are not intended and shail not be construed as dedication for pubric

Each ofthe
carry out the tenns

)dre.present they have the fuI pow.er and capacity to make, enter into, and
this agreement.

r'Uzu) nL tbe presence

Signe{. sealed ar

this fu/day of
2020, in the presenie

72

Item 6c.



IIJI'IUINTO
DOUOHBITTYCOUNTY'
2038NB\lnnNROAI)
ALEANY, OltORorA3t70l

t vbbv l

'heroinafter oallcd the

WiTNESSE'I'H,

WIIEREAS, the
Jrlorttilicatfon Nrr
Jnud .r:ccords of J)ougl
heleiuafter callacl the

WHEREAS, the

WHEREAS, tho Site
(Nano of
horeof, as aSrprovorl

withiu ths cotrfines of

Wl'il:illliA$, {lro

hotneowrors
County, Georgin,
rnaintainetl on the P.to

Plan lic cou,lttuclcd
ittoluclitrg arry

NOW lrHIrEI,
contniuccl ltoloitt, atrd

WORKS

c"b99
b&e

/.\l'ER FAEILITV MAINTENANcE 46 REEMENT
I

TI{IS AORBEMBNT,
botweeu (Iusort Frrll N

bntorc nd
lcl'.-.. ..
'r, tuxl t

Drolerly tlescribed as (1hx Map['atcel

:-iiubs- :::"9;*iY.'ff ::'::

isp'rocoeding to bulkl on nnd dovelop tireptoporly; an<l

trbdivislorr Plan knowrr as .S-rte, .lmB.e-rleorcdK frr--F*$-BJrtLC-
t) hereilofter catletl {ile "Plau", whibh is oxpros;ly rna<lb a par:{:

go bo a14u'ovecl by thp Couttty, provides for detentlott o1'storm.wator

nrul tho I,rurdowrro4 iflg suuccxsor',,1 ttt<l assigrts, itrultttliug trlty

agr:ce'tiiattho hcultlr, rnfaty, untl'lvcJlhto of'tlto lcultlottts ot'l')otrgherrty
that otr-site stolrnwotor lnfluzlgonlolt liroJlitior Ilo constrrtctetl nttd

; tlnd

'WItBIfIfA$, 
I |te. (.iou rcqrriros thnt on'.sits stor'rnwrtor nuul.ogotno,rt ttroilitios as showtt ott tfto

tulcqrrntely rnnirttabred try lho lattdownu; its sttccossot's rtttd flssiglts,
association,
I

in cortsiclol'atton of tho folog<lirrg prertilsos, tlto .mtttttql oovonantu
fdltorving totrtrs nud cotrdittions, lhtr ltulties ltorolo ilgtco n$ llollorvs:

1. Tile ou-site mailRgslnent fnoi lities,shall b o odnstruotcd' Uy lne f andowtetl
its
irr the }lan,
(

rud asslgrs, in sccordauso with ths plnns anci spooifioutiorts identifisal

73

Item 6c.



'flte , its sucoossoru and Rssig,tlr, itxthrding tury ltottroo\?llolls nnso0itttlott,

shall mahtahr tlte stotrnwnfot'trtattttgoltte,trt thulllllotl, rfltin irroltt<los nll
prI0s, s or othet 0onv0y0n0es buill tO ootrvoy stotlttwtttot'to tho fircllltg tts

.wcll ns all ues, inrptovourotrtg nrrd vr.rgntnliott pt'ovitlctl to contrr.rI lho <ltrutttlty

atNl qunli of ths. storrtrrwtrtat,.A<laqrrtto ltRhrtcnuttcu ls hot'olu <loJittccl as goocl

rvorlcirtg ion so that llrs$o fuoilitlos aru potfot'ming theit desigtt funotlons,

3.'Iltc rerl its succossor$ and asslgns. shrrll inspac(:tho stot'nllntor tnattttgotnont

facility an

inspeotion
and shall lceep tecot'tls of tlto ittspeofiolr, 'iltc prtrposs o.fi lfto

to asstuo sefe and. ploper lirlotionlug oll lttc firoilitio.t, '['lrc irrupc,rtiotr

sbnll covsr eutiro faoilities, borms, outlsl. str:ttuttttlo, ltotxl {it'oll$r {tccolr$ tjo{td., cto,

shall bo notod jn tho iuspe otion report,
t
t

4, llro its srtccessOts aud asSigtrsr lt'Ucby gutnt prltnrisuitttt to tluo Cottrtly, i(s

authorized
stolmwatet'
cletertnirras

liattility

an<t onrployees, to etttot' ttllott llto,Propolty ulttl to itrvpr.rol; lltr:
Itnsut facilitios as tho County (lcolll.e trpproprinlr:. U tftq Cotrrtty

repairs ato tequited, the Corurty shall pto'vlclc tlto Landolvrtoq its
succgcsol,$ assigns, oopios of the inupeollon firrdings an<[ a dlreotivo to conunottce

rviththo

5, In the ths Lanilowror', its fucgessols ancl assigtrs, falls to lnnintaltl tlte

stotutwatct' ilanagsmsnt :Faoilitios in goorl wolklg condltion acceptalilo lo tho
(.lourrly,

corrccI
tepaits to
construed

LanclOWnor', its nuce9.ssgr6 nrtrl ttssig6s, ll'lrts ptovision tthflll tult bo

allow the County to oteot nny structtrre 0f patllt(uttttt[ unturc ott llto lttltd

of the outsi{o of ttre casurrelt frrr' (ho slrrrtrtwntst'nlntlflgctllotrt fnoilitics,

It is rx ly utrtlorstootl tuxl ugt'ocd llrnt tho (orrnty h trrulor no ullligntiott 1o

iirtrrin or ropnir snitl lhoilities, rtttd itt tto evstrt Shall thls Agr:cqnrotrt bef0utinoly
cottslrucrl itu,poso ntty sttolt otrliflatiorl orrthe Counly,

The Lauclo
lhtlse :firoi

sohcrluls tfte stonnwntor nnungolrrtnt firci lit ios (ilol.rxl irrg sc<l ltttertt rctttovol) itl

outliried on approvod pftrns, lhe sohedule will be foltowed'

7. hr the (l.ro County ptttsuattl'to this agt;cottrottt', 1:otfottnU Work of ntry lttttrtrq ot'

firnds irr pet'lbtrtauoo ojlsni<l rvolk lbr lttllgt', itsc o.f <rqUrtxllollf) strplrlios,cxpcrvls
([o Iike, lho Lnntlowrurr; i(s $ucoorlsot$ ntxl assigrts, tltall,loitttbtttso tlto

clor\iun<|, witLirr lhfuty (30) day.s of reooipt tliereof for all ao[ual costs
ruratotials,

Coturty
itroutrccl by hc (Jour rly Jtotettttdor'.

Lattdowror as well as its succelsol'$ autl nsslgps, figlco$ tq inrlonrrrtt'y nnd Ittlld
rtt tcllrarrnless Corlrff,

col theit susaessots and as$igtt$, With foSpeot to nll claitns, tlottrttttclu rrr

auy ir{utlcs to any pqi$(}ll (ilrcftrclirrg clcltlt) 0l' (lallln{+o to pr4lot'ty,

Cloun[y lray cntor upon tho l'roporty nrrcl trrko wltqfgoA$eD ngy to
riencler idoutificcl in the irrspoction roi)ol](i trxl to oltnrgo thc aosts of ,grtolt

i ils Sucoossors nrtrl asslgtts, will 1:crf:ortrr (lto work ll($os$tlt'y trr lrcep

in gootl. Wotking rltrlst tt1l rrpprOprittfo, Jtr tlt.c' evettl a tn4lntettattoo

agollls, offfuoru atxl cntploycos (Jndlv,iclrrally
its
its

rrtisitrg ottt ol ltt nuy wny cormectrs(l wlth llto l,nrrclorvltolts aolivity at tlto

74

Item 6c.



'$tolllrwotgr
orxl pAy nl
judgtrrents

WI'IbIESSths

$ignsd, sealecl fird dcli
jn tlro plesence 0.fl

WITNESS

NO't'Al(YPU}ilC
My ootnnrissiort oxpjros:

Slgued, sonlod and dsl
iu tho prosonco of

)a$cd thorcon, 'I'hie irulerilnlty oxtotuls to nrry allogod nogligonno oll
itt tlto dosigtt or' opolnllotr of stourrwatol rntrnngotrrort fhulllty. itlhis

. indenrnity not extondto auy dnrnnge, fujury or lose rlue to tlie solo nogligonco of
thoCounty,

Tltis ,sltnll be rsoor(ls(l flurollg tho lnucl reuords uf Doughorly Corurl.y,
(icorgia,

olr tho
sltnl l colstituts a oovonant r'ururilrg wifh tho lnrxl, nrrrl thall bo bindi rrg
wttot; its ntltnlnlslrators, oxooulols, tsulgnu, Iroirs nnd alry olhcr

stTcce$sot's interests, i nolnding any honreownots agso uiation,

slgnntttres and seals pursuant to propor ruthodty,

rnruulgsnlent faoility, Tfte Lardownsr shall tlofenrl agtrinst suclr olelrus
ofitott$orJ of suoh dotbrrro, inolurllng l'ansollnblo rttouroy forcs arttl nll

DOUGITDIIT r COTJN lY, GE OIt(+l'A

By:-_..*-.

Attest;___ 
"

($BAl:t

lEu(A €.A t LLc

Byr -

(lsEAL)

wINl{SS

tl

75

Item 6c.



GEORGIA,

THIS

the lirstPar!

use, benefit and behoof the said Grantee their heirs arnd assigns, forever in FEB Srutprn.

HA8-cmfi
Wallnce D. Bonncr, JL
Moon Cla*q DuVall &
P. O. Drau'er 7lZ?
Ahany,GA 317fr8-1727

(2019), between

($10.00) and other
presents, the receipt
and confirmed, and by
Cnantee:

Ib**gi os?*]E &
FXLENI rf,"[ SFFTEE
i-P.{E*',r3*l-+ &cn ; GE F"inf

Ei{:{nf:4tr FG::,{s-.t5
FUSI'!I4F H, F4q.J!'!
ff_E!:ti{ fiF- f,st-"tFiT
**L]G[JERTY [SU1-{TY
C,'.r-s&+ E"-ttt*ru_

FiEft! EGTy*TE l-F:fthflSF'EF:
Trft]{ F"#ITU n .${t?- E#

F T-F-.l Odi 7*3{ia'?--*$E?5-+

LrivryEp WARRANTY pEED

COUNTY.

rrradethk lVfh day ofDecember, intheyearTwo ThouvrndNineteen
g Road Properties, LLC, a Georgia I as party of
:*i^,9T:qr,T*I"9 uA' LLC, oompanv,

, hereinafter called "Grantec" (the words "Grantof" and ,'Grantee', 
to include

heirs, successors and assigns where the context requires or pennits).

Grantor, for and in consideration of TEN DOLI,ARS AND No1l00
considerations, in hand paid at and before the sealing and delivery of these'is hereby_acknowledged, 

fras Synted, bargained, s[14 aliened, 
"*ry.Opresents does granl bargain, sell, alien, convey and confirm r.rnto the said

D the said tract or parcel of land, with all and singular the rights, menrbers
to the same being; belonging or in.anywisr 

"pp.ri-uining, 
to til* otrv proper

AII that traet
Dishict of Do
Exhibit'.A"

properly is conveyed subject to any and all easements and

T0 HAVE AI.ID TO H
and appurtenftices

The

76

Item 6c.



IN MTNESS lbRboF, the Grantor has hereunto set their hancls and affixed their seals seal^
above written.onthe day and year

Grantor, for their successors arxl assigus, will wanaut and forever defenrl rtre
ve-described prcpsrqr ynto the sairl Giantee, against the claims of a[ persons
ing bg tluough or under the said Grantor.

tr'm*nwc Roan pnrrrnRrms, LLC,
a, Groncn LMITED LIABILr, colt{pANy

Limited Warranty
Page 2

A}.ID THE
right and title to the
owning, hokling or

Signed sealed and deli
this l)flt day of
2019, :r;^the presence

UNOFFICI/IL

0\^.
NOTARY PIJBLIC
My ComrnissionExp

R;\Iteal Estate Albany

77

Item 6c.



Limited Warranty
Page 3

Signe4 sealedaqd vered,
this loh ,
2019, in the presence

- Continuation of Signatures

Fr,n*rngc Roln Pnonnnrrns, IIC,
A GE0RGIA IIMITED LIABILITY coilmANY

LINOFFICIAL

NOTARYPIJBLiC
My Commission , l\ | 131 toet

78

Item 6c.



Limited Wamanty
Page4

- Continuation of Signatuns

Florrntxc Roe,n pRopnRrrnq LLC,
a GnoRcln LIMITED LrABrLrry coMpANy

Signed, sealed and
thir l?fr.r day ofl
2019, in the presence

Br,fuZ: ,,-u('(s*^*)
Chase Haward, Manager

79

Item 6c.



All that certain tract
District in

Commence at a
Pecan Lane and run
distance of 365.68
continue along the
100 feet to a point; t
thence runN 01
04' 09" E for a di
of 1642.19 feet t0 a
Railway Company;
Company 537
56' 08'W for a
Pecan Lane and is
on that cerlain Plat of
BoydEA, LLC",
herein for all p

where the south line of Land Lot 166 interseots the east Ri6,,ht-of-way of
long the east Right-of-way of Pecarr Lane N 00 degrees 00, 43,, E for a

Exhibil "A"

parcel of land lying and being in a portion of Land Lot 166 of the 1'r Land
corurty, Georgi4 and heing rnore particulady described as follou,s:

fo a point which is the Point of Beginning; from this point of Beginning
Right of way of Pecan Lane North 00 degrees 00' 43'n E for a distance o?
rc€ run N 89 degrees 56' 08" E for a distance of 300.39 feet to a point;
50' 33" w for a distance of 232.47 feet to a point; trrence run N 00 de$ees

:.of233.3r feetto apoint; thencerunN 89 degrees sg, 52. Efora distance
int u'hich is located on rhe southwest Right of way of Georgia Northem
nce run along the southwest Right of way of Georgia Northern Railway
37' 27" E for a distance of 71 1.3 I feet to a point; thence run s g9 degrees
ce of 2369.64 feet ro a point which is locatei on rhe East Right of way of
Point of Begir:ning. said'l'ract is more particularly shown and delineated
urvey entitled'Minor subdivision Plat, Ileming Road properties, LLC and
october 3, 2019 as shoran on Exhibit "B'o attached hereto aniiincorporated

80

Item 6c.



EXHIBIT

B \, 
13,,

81

Item 6c.



 

 

 

American Recovery Plan Act (ARPA) 
Dougherty County Proposed Spending Plan  

($17 Million Recovery Funds) 

PHASE I: Proposed Project Summary for Tranche 1 of 2 - $8.5M 
(Tranche 1 – Received May 2021/ Tranche 2 – May 2022) 

Eligible Uses: 
1) Support Public Health Response 
2) Address Negative Economic Impacts 
3) Premium Pay for Essential Workers 
4) Payroll Expenses for Public Health & 

Public Safety Employees 

5) Replace Public Sector Revenue Loss 
6) Water, Sewer and Broadband 

Infrastructure 
 

PRIORITY 1: ADMINISTRATION  
(Essential Business Operations) 

Proposed Project Eligibility 
Reference 

 

FY 22 
Proposed 

Cost 

FY 23 
Proposed 

Cost 

FY 24 
Proposed 

Cost 

FY 22-24 
Proposed 

Cost 

Premium Pay Raise 
(Public Safety – GF) 

3 $2,546,058 $2,546,058 $2,546,058  

Premium Pay Raise 
(Public Safety – SSD) 

3 $406,362 $406,362 $406,362  

Premium Back Pay 
($1K Per Employee) 

3  $650,000   

Consultants 1 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000  

Employee 
Vaccination 
Incentives  

($300) 

1 $300,000  
 

  

Incentive Based 
COVID Vaccine 

Event  
(Dougherty 
Residents) 

1 $400,000    

Family First Corona 
Virus Response Act 

(FFCRA)  
(Pd. 

Sick/Family/Med) 

1 $200,000 $200,000 $100,000  

Health Plan COVID 
Costs 

1 $1,500,000 $1,000,000 $500,000  

COVID PPE 1 $120,000 $120,000 $120,000  

Technology  
(Computers, 

Software & Radios) 

1  
$756,077 

 
$100,000 

 
$100,000 

 

Broadband (20% 
Match) 

7 $1,001,346    

Contingency  $100,157    

  $7,380,000 $5,072,420 $3,822,420 $16,274,840 
 

 
TOTAL PRIORITY 1: ADMINISTRATION (86.8%) 

(Essential Business Operations) 

 
$7,380,000 

82

Item 6d.



 

 

PRIORITY 2: DEPARTMENTS  
(Essential Public Service Delivery) 

Department/ 
Proposed Projects 

Eligibility 
Reference 

FY 22 
Proposed 

Cost 

FY 23 
Proposed 

Cost 

FY 24 
Proposed  

Cost 

FY 22-24 
Proposed 

Cost 

Judicial  
(DA’s Office) 

1 $100,000 $250,000 $250,000  

Public Library  
(Mobile Library) 

1 $400,000    

Health Department 1 $300,000    

  $800,000 $250,000 $250,000 $1,300,000 

      

 
TOTAL PRIORITY 2: DEPARTMENTS ONLY (9.4%) 

(Essential Public Service Delivery) 

 
$800,000 

  

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 
Commissioners 

 
Proposed Project Description 

 
Proposed Cost 

 
Eligibility 
Reference 

Commissioner Jones 

Youth Aides and Internships to work in various department of 
County Govt. during summers and other school breaks 

  

Housing   

   

Commissioner Edwards 

Youth Job Training & Apprenticeship w/ County Govt.   

Small Business Loans to Businesses   

Homeless Programs w/ Day Services (Living Space 
Improvements) 

  

   

Commissioner Gaines 

Overall Goal is to Stabilize Budget on the Revenue and Cost 
Sides of Operations by: 
 
Addressing Service Cost Increases to the County due to COVID, 
to include:  

1. Building Modifications 
2. Health Benefits 
3. Overtime, Sick Pay and Quarantine Leave 
4. Public Safety (e.g., Jail) 

 
Address Revenue Losses due to COVID, to include the Criminal 
Justice System, Sales Taxes, etc. 

  

Continue Vaccine Incentives to citizens for both health and 
economic benefits 

  

Working in Partnership with a Nonprofit to address 
Homelessness 

  

   

 
TOTAL PRIORITY 2: DEPARTMENTS & OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 

 
N/A 

83

Item 6d.



 

 

PRIORITY 3: COMMUNITY SERVICE PROGRAMS  
(Addressing Critical Community Impact/Needs) 

Community 
Stakeholder/ 

Proposed Project 

Eligibility 
Reference 

FY 22 
Proposals 

FY 23 
Proposals 

FY 24 
Proposals 

FY 22-24 
Totals 

Housing 
(TBD) 

2 $320,000    

Phoebe 
Workforce 

Development 

2   
$190,000 

  

Phoebe 
Behavioral Health 

Services 

2  $250,000 $250,000  

Albany Community 
Together (ACT) 
Small Business 

Assistance: 
Access to Capital, 
Financial Health 

Assessments, and 
Other Needs to 

Address Negative 
Impact of COVID 

NOTE: 
Request was for $1-

3M/  
(Est. of $1.5 

Included) 

2  
 

 
$500,000 

 
$500,000 

 

ASPIRE 
Field Case Mgmt. 

Services 

2  $151,674   

      

  $320,000 $1,091,674 $750,000 $2,161,674 

 
TOTAL PRIORITY 3: COMMUNITY SERVICE PROGRAMS (3.8%) 

(Addressing Critical Community Impact/Needs) 
 

 
$320,000 

 

  

TOTAL ALL PROPOSED PROJECTS: FY 22 $8,500,000 

TOTAL ALL PROPOSED PROJECTS: FY 22-24 $19,736,514 
($2,736,514) 

 

84

Item 6d.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Andrew J. Hill III 
Email address:  ahill@bbga.com   
 
November 5, 2021 
 
Via Email 
Dougherty County, Georgia 
 
Re: In Re: National Prescription Opiate Litigation 

Case No. 1:17-mdl-2804, United States District Court for the Northern  
District of Ohio, Eastern Division (Hon. Dan A. Polster) 

 
Dear Client: 
 

Earlier this year, opioid distributor defendants McKesson Corporation, 
AmerisourceBergen Corporation, and Cardinal Health, Inc., and opioid 
manufacturer defendants Johnson & Johnson, Jannsen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 
Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. 
(collectively the “Settling Defendants”) reached separate settlement frameworks 
(referred to as the “National Distributor Settlement” and the “J&J Settlement”) 
with certain states and local government entities for a collective $26 billion.  The 
National Distributor and J&J Settlements are attached for your review and more 
information regarding these settlements can be found at 
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/.   
 

In order for the National Distributor and J&J Settlements to become 
effective, enough states and local government entities must agree to participate 
in the settlements.  If, in the Settling Defendants’ discretion, not enough states 
and local government entities agree to participate in the settlements, the Settling 
Defendants can back out of the settlements, the settlements will not become 
effective, and litigation against the Settling Defendants will continue in In Re: 
National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL 2804 (the “MDL”). 
 

The National Distributor and J&J Settlements have widespread support 
from the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee, which represents the interests of local 
governments and leads the MDL, and the MDL Judge.  The National Distributor 
and J&J Settlements also have widespread support in the State of Georgia, 
including from Governor Brian Kemp, Attorney General Chris Carr, and 
attorneys representing all of the other Georgia litigating cities, counties, sheriffs, 
and hospital authorities.  We believe the National Distributor and J&J Settlements 
are the best way to maximize recovery to the State of Georgia and Georgia local 
government entities from the Settling Defendants and ensure that resources flow, 
particularly sooner rather than later, to local governments to abate the opioid 
epidemic.  
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

85

Item 6e.

mailto:ahill@bbga.com
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/


 
November 2, 2021 
Page 2 
_____________________ 

 
In anticipation of the National Distributor and J&J Settlements, which have been the 

subject of negotiations since October 2019, there have been discussions concerning how to allocate 
settlement funds between the State of Georgia and Georgia local government entities.  We have 
been actively involved in these discussions and the resultant Memorandum of Understanding 
(“MOU”) between the State of Georgia and Certain Local Government Entities.  A copy of the 
MOU, which only concerns the National Distributor and J&J Settlements and does not impact any 
claims you have pending against other defendants in the MDL, is attached for your review. 1  A 
copy of the represented local government entities involved in the MOU is also attached.   

 
The purpose of the MOU is to maximize the monetary recovery from the National 

Distributor and J&J Settlements to the State of Georgia and local government entities and to 
memorialize an agreement between the State of Georgia and certain Georgia local government 
entities regarding how settlement funds will be distributed intrastate before the State of Georgia 
officially joins the National Distributor and J&J Settlements.  We believe your agreeing to the 
MOU is in your best interests and in the best interests of all our clients.   

 
Section III of the MOU describes how funds allocated to Georgia by the National 

Distributor and J&J Settlements will be allocated intrastate.  At least 70% of the funds must be 
used for future abatement purposes. 

 
Participating Local Governments will receive 25% of the funds allocated to Georgia under 

the National Distributor and J&J Settlements.  Those funds will be paid to the national Settlement 
Administrator and distributed in accordance with the conditions in the settlements and the 
additional conditions contained in Section III of the MOU.  Section III provides that: (1) if a county 
who is a Participating Local Government has a sheriff who is listed as a Litigating Subdivision in 
Exhibit C of the National Distributor Settlement, at least 9.45% of the funds paid to the county 
will be allocated to the county’s sheriff; (2) if a county who is a Participating Local Government 
has a hospital that is listed as a Litigating Subdivision in Exhibit C of the Distributor Settlement 
Agreement, at least 2% of the funds paid to the county will be allocated to the hospital; and (3) if 
a county who is a Participating Local Government has a school district that is listed as a Litigating 
Subdivision in Exhibit C of the National Distributor Settlement, at least 1% of the funds paid to 
the county will be allocated to the school district.    

 
It is not possible for us to provide a precise amount of recovery for each local government 

entity under the MOU.  Many variables, including nationwide levels of participation among states 
and local government entities, will impact the amount of money the State of Georgia will receive 
under the National Distributor and J&J Settlements and, therefore, the amount of money that will 
be allocated to local governments subject to the provisions of the MOU.  However,  we are working 
with individuals who have created recovery models, and have been appointed by the MDL Judge 

 
1 Please be aware that, as discussed in Section VI of the MOU, the MOU is conditioned on the passage of a “Litigation 
Bar” (a prohibition of litigation against the Settling Defendants for claims released in the settlement agreements) by 
the General Assembly and approval of the same by the Governor.  Although we anticipate a Litigation Bar being 
passed and approved, the MOU will become null and void if a Litigation Bar is not enacted by July 15, 2023.    

86

Item 6e.



 
November 2, 2021 
Page 3 
_____________________ 

to create recovery models under the settlements, to provide a range of recovery for each of our 
clients.   
 

The State of Georgia will receive 75% of the funds allocated to Georgia by the National 
Distributor and J&J Settlements.  At least 40% of the State’s share will be expended on a regional 
basis, which will benefit you and all other local government entities.  As detailed in Section III of 
the MOU, the State of Georgia will be divided into Regions at a future date.  Funds will be 
distributed to each Region based on an assigned regional allocation percentage.  The original 
regional allocation percentage will be based on the Negotiation Class Allocation Model, which is 
based on the following: (1) opioid use disorder cases; (2) overdose deaths; and (3) the number of 
opioids distributed at the county level.  The Negotiation Class Allocation Map, which includes 
calculations for each county in the United States, can be found here: 
https://allocationmap.iclaimsonline.com/.2  Following the original regional allocation percentages 
calculated using the Negotiation Class Allocation Model, the regional allocation percentages will 
be recalculated every three years based on the following metrics: (1) number of fatal opioid 
overdoses within the Region; (2) non-addition treatment morphine milligram equivalents (MME) 
shipped into the Region; and (3) addiction treatment MME shipped into the Region. 

 
We recommend that you agree to be bound by the MOU, which has the unanimous 

support of attorneys representing all of the Georgia litigating local government entities, and 
agree to participate in the National Distributor and J&J Settlements for the following 
reasons: 
 

1. Maximize your recovery.  The National Distributor and J&J Settlements are dependent 
on levels of participation by states and local government entities.  Your participation is critical to 
these settlements becoming effective.  Further, the incentives built into the settlements reward 
higher rates of participation with accelerated and larger payments.  We believe that the settlements 
and the MOU are the best way to maximize the recovery for the State of Georgia, you, and all of 
the Georgia litigating local government entities from the Settling Defendants.   

 
2. You do not want to be on the outside looking in.  The National Distributor and J&J 

Settlements have the support of the Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee, the MDL Judge, and all of 
the attorneys representing Georgia litigating local government entities, and we expect that all 
litigating local government entities will elect to participate in the settlements, as they did when the 
Negotiation Class was an available option in 2019.  Being one of the few local government entities 
that does not participate in the settlements may result in your claims being overlooked or ignored 
by the Settling Defendants, significantly delay or eliminate the opportunity for pre-trial resolution 
of your claims against the Settling Defendants, and risk your claims being subject to state legislated 
litigation bars or additional bankruptcies.  

 

 
2 As you recall, you previously agreed to the Negotiation Class Allocation Model when you opted to join the 
Negotiation Class in 2019.  Although certification of the Negotiation Class was reversed by the Sixth Circuit, and the 
Negotiation Class is no longer being used as a settlement vehicle, the Negotiation Class Allocation Model is still being 
utilized to allocate settlement funds.   

87

Item 6e.

https://allocationmap.iclaimsonline.com/


 
November 2, 2021 
Page 4 
_____________________ 

3. Reduce your workload.  All non-trial track cases in the MDL, including your case, have 
been stayed.  Accordingly, your involvement in this litigation has largely been your cooperation 
in the Plaintiff Fact Sheet process and you have not had to devote significant time to fact discovery 
or expert hiring and discovery.  However, if you decide not to participate in the National 
Distributor and J&J Settlements, the Court has ordered that the stay of your case be partially lifted 
– the “Non-Participating Subdivision” case management order partially lifts the MDL stay for 
subdivisions who decline to participate in the settlements and sets deadlines for completing 
updated Plaintiff Fact Sheets, producing documents, identifying suspicious orders, identifying 
experts, and providing a detailed explanation of the damages, abatement, and other relief sought.  
(Doc. 3795).  The Court’s order sends a strong message to local government entities that don’t 
participate in the settlements.  You should expect to devote hundreds of hours to discovery, 
document production, experts, depositions, and damages calculations next year if the stay of your 
case is partially lifted.  Consider whether this is feasible for you.   

 
4. Attorneys’ Fees and Costs.  Under the National Distributor and J&J Settlements, 

attorneys can seek fees from a separate Contingency Fee Fund, which will be administered by a 
Fee Panel, if they waive their contingency fee agreements with their clients.  If attorneys seek to 
enforce their contingency fee agreements, their fees will be capped at 15%.  (Doc. 3814).  The 
intent of the Contingency Fee Fund is to maximize the recovery of participating states and local 
governments.  Assuming the settlements go into effect, and you participate in the settlements, we 
intend to seek fees from the Contingency Fee Fund and waive our contingency fee contract.   

 
Under the National Distributor and J&J Settlements, attorneys can also seek reimbursement 

of litigation costs from a separate Litigating Subdivision Cost Fund, which will be administered 
by the Cost and Expense Fund Administrator.  Like the Contingency Fee Fund, the Litigating 
Subdivision Cost Fund is intended to maximize the recovery of participating states and local 
governments.  Assuming the settlements go into effect, and you participate in the settlements, we 
intend to seek reimbursement of the costs associated with your case from the Litigating 
Subdivision Cost Fund.   

 
 At this time, we cannot provide an estimate on the amount of fees or costs that may be 

awarded given the multiple variables involved, including the level of participation in the settlement 
agreements, the number of firms that may apply to the funds, and the discretion of the 
panel/administrator in making any fee or cost awards.  However, a detailed discussion of the 
attorneys’ fees and costs funds set up by the settlement agreements can be found in Exhibit R to 
the National Distributor and J&J Settlements. 

 
In accordance with Section VII of the MOU, a local fee fund called the Local Government 

Cost and Fee Fund will also be established for attorneys representing participating Georgia local 
government entities.  The Local Government Cost and Fee Fund is the local fund from which we 
intend to seek fees and costs for our work.  As provided in Section VII, participation in the local 
fund requires us to waive enforcement of our contingency fee agreements with our clients, seek 
fees from the national funds discussed above, and not collect more for our work than we would 
under our contingency fee agreements.  Again, at this time, we cannot provide an estimate on the 
amount of fees or costs that may awarded from the Local Government Cost and Fee Fund given 
the multiple variables involved.   

88

Item 6e.



 
November 2, 2021 
Page 5 
_____________________ 

 
We recommend that you agree to be bound by the MOU and participate in the 

National Distributor and J&J Settlements.  For your convenience, we have included a draft 
resolution for you to agree to be bound by the MOU and participate in the National 
Distributor and J&J Settlements.  The following documents, which are attached as exhibits 
to the resolution, will need to be executed by a duly-authorized representative:  

 
1. Exhibit A: Acknowledgment and Agreement To Be Bound By Memorandum of 

Understanding; 
 

2. Exhibit B: Subdivision Distributor Settlement Participation Form; and  
 
3. Exhibit C: Janssen Settlement Participation Form.  

Upon receipt of this letter, please advise us of the date of the meeting where the resolution 
will be considered.   

 
If you agree to be bound by the MOU and participate in the National Distributor and 

J&J Settlements, please send us a copy of the resolution and executed Exhibits A, B, and C 
by December 8, 2021.  It is critical that we receive these documents by December 8, 2021 
because the State of Georgia will not join the National Distributor and J&J Settlements until 
it receives acknowledgments from all of the Georgia litigating local government entities.  If 
the State of Georgia does not join the settlements, Georgia local government entities will not 
have the option to participate in the $26 billion National Distributor and J&J Settlements.   
 
 If you do not want to be bound by the MOU, and do not intend to participate in the 
National Distributor and J&J Settlements, you must contact me at ahill@bbga.com or 706-
354-4000 by November 22, 2021. 
 
 If you have questions, please feel free to contact me.   
 

Sincerely, 
 
  /s/ Andrew J. Hill III 
 
  Andrew J. Hill III 
 
AKH/AJH/slh 
Enclosures  
 
 

89

Item 6e.



RESOLUTION NO. _______ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA (“COUNTY”) 
AGREEING TO BE BOUND BY THE MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE STATE OF GEORGIA AND 
CERTAIN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ENTITIES CONCERNING THE 
NATIONAL DISTRIBUTOR AND J&J SETTLEMENTS AND DIRECTING 
THE EXECUTION OF THE “ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT 
TO BE BOUND BY MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING,” 
“SUBDIVISION DISTRIBUTOR SETTLEMENT PARTICIPATION 
FORM,” AND “JANSSEN SETTLEMENT PARTICIPATION FORM.” 

 
  WHEREAS, the County initiated litigation against certain manufacturers and distributors 
of prescription opioids in In re: National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL 2804, to hold them 
accountable for the opioid epidemic and to seek equitable and monetary relief; 
 
 WHEREAS, opioid distributor defendants McKesson Corporation, AmerisourceBergen 
Corporation, and Cardinal Health, Inc. (“Settling Distributors”), and opioid manufacturer 
defendants Johnson & Johnson, Jannsen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ortho-McNeil-Janssen 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. (“J&J”) have separately reached settlement 
frameworks (otherwise known as the “National Distributor Settlement” and “J&J Settlement”) 
with certain states and local government entities that the State of Georgia and Georgia’s local 
government entities have the option to join;  
 
 WHEREAS, the State of Georgia and certain Georgia local government entities seek to 
enter a Memorandum of Understanding that would enable them to join the National Distributor 
and J&J Settlements and maximize the recovery to the State of Georgia and Georgia local 
government entities from those settlements; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the County desires to agree to be bound by the Memorandum of 
Understanding and to participate in the National Distributor and J&J Settlements.   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD 
OF COMMISSIONERS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  The County Board of Commissioners, as the governing body of the County, 
hereby agrees to be bound by the Memorandum of Understanding between the State of Georgia 
and certain Georgia local government entities concerning the National Distributor and J&J 
Settlements.  
 
 Section 2.  The County Board of Commissioners, as the governing body of the County, 
hereby agrees to participate in the National Distributor and J&J Settlements.   
 
 Section 3.  The County Board of Commissioners hereby appoints ____________________  
as the duly-appointed representative of the County for the purposes of agreeing to be bound by the 
Memorandum of Understanding and participating in the National Distributor and J&J Settlements.   

90

Item 6e.



 
 Section 4.  The County Board of Commissioners directs the duly-appointed representative 
of the County to execute the “ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT TO BE BOUND BY 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING,” attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit 
A. 

Section 5.  The County Board of Commissioners directs the duly-appointed representative 
of the County to execute the “Subdivision Distributor Settlement Participation Form,” attached 
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B. 
 

Section 6.  The County Board of Commissioners directs the duly-appointed representative 
of the County to execute the “Janssen Settlement Participation Form,” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit C. 
 
 Section 7.  If any section, paragraph or provision of this Resolution shall be held to be invalid 
or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

 Section 8.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption as 
provided by law.   

 This Resolution was introduced, seconded and adopted at a duly convened meeting of the 
Dougherty County Board of Commissioners, held on _____________________, 2021. 
 
 
              

Chairman, Board of Commissioners 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
County Attorney 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

91

Item 6e.



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Acknowledgment and Agreement to Be Bound By Memorandum of Understanding 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

92

Item 6e.



EXHIBIT 1 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT  
TO BE BOUND BY MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

 WHEREFORE, the undersigned, as a duly-appointed representative of the below-
referenced entity, acknowledges the following:  

• Dougherty County, Georgia has received the State of Georgia and Local Governments: 
Memorandum of Understanding Concerning National Distributor and Johnson & Johnson 
Opioid Settlements. 

• The undersigned is a duly-appointed representative of Dougherty County, Georgia, and has 
the authority to execute this document and bind Dougherty County, Georgia to the 
Memorandum of Understanding.  

• Dougherty County, Georgia is either represented by legal counsel, or has the ability to 
obtain advice from legal counsel, concerning the contents and implication of the 
Memorandum of Understanding.  

• The undersigned, on behalf of Dougherty County, Georgia understands and acknowledges 
the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding, and Dougherty County, Georgia, agrees 
to be bound by its terms.  

• No party is under duress or undue influence. 

/s/____________________________ 

 

Name_________________________ 

Title _________________________ 

Date _________________________ 

Entity Dougherty County, Georgia 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

93

Item 6e.



EXHIBIT “B” 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Subdivision Distributor Settlement Participation Form 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

94

Item 6e.



Subdivision Distributor Settlement Participation Form 
 

Governmental Entity: State:  
Authorized Official:   
Address 1:  
Address 2:  
City, State, Zip:  
Phone:  
Email:  

 
The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and  

in consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement 
Agreement dated July 21, 2021 (“Distributor Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned 
authorized official, hereby elects to participate in the Distributor Settlement, release all Released 
Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows. 
 

1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Distributor Settlement, 
understands that all terms in this Participation Form have the meanings defined therein, 
and agrees that by signing this Participation Form, the Governmental Entity elects to 
participate in the Distributor Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as 
provided therein.  

 
2. The Governmental Entity shall, within 14 days of the Reference Date and prior to the 

filing of the Consent Judgment, secure the dismissal with prejudice of any Released 
Claims that it has filed. 

 
3. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the Distributor Settlement pertaining to 

Subdivisions as defined therein. 
 

4. By agreeing to the terms of the Distributor Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the 
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, 
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date. 

 
5. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Distributor 

Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein. 
 

6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental 
Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role 
as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Distributor 
Settlement. The Governmental Entity likewise agrees to arbitrate before the National 
Arbitration Panel as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent otherwise 
provided in, the Distributor Settlement. 

 
 
 
 

95

Item 6e.



7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Distributor Settlement as provided 
therein. 

 
8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for 

all purposes in the Distributor Settlement, including, but not limited to, all provisions of 
Part XI, and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, commissions, 
districts, instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in their official 
capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, person, or 
other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity identified in                
the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its authority. As a  
Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally, and irrevocably 
covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be brought, filed, or 
claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released Claims against any 
Released Entity in any forum whatsoever. The releases provided for in the Distributor 
Settlement are intended by the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted so as to give   
the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating in any way to 
Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of the Governmental Entity to 
release claims. The Distributor Settlement shall be a complete bar to any Released Claim. 

 
9. The Governmental Entity hereby takes on all rights and obligations of a Participating 

Subdivision as set forth in the Distributor Settlement. 
 

10. In connection with the releases provided for in the Distributor Settlement, each 
Governmental Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all 
provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the 
United States or other jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar, 
comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads: 

 

General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that  
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or 
her favor at the time of executing the release, and that if known by him or 
her would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or 
released party. 

 
A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it 
knows, believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each 
Governmental Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, 
releases and discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may 
exist as of such date but which Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether 
through ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and 
which, if known, would materially affect the Governmental Entities’ decision to 
participate in the Distributor Settlement. 
 
 
 

96

Item 6e.



11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Distributor Settlement,                                                                                                                 
to which Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this Participation Form is 
interpreted differently from the Distributor Settlement in any respect, the Distributor 
Settlement controls. 

 
12. The effective date of this Participation Form shall be the date on which the State of Georgia                         

enters into the Distributor Settlement. In the event that the State of Georgia elects not       
to enter into the Distributor Settlement, this Participation Form shall be null and void     
and shall confer no rights or obligations on the State of Georgia, the Released Entities      
(as defined in the National Settlement Agreement dated July 21, 2021), or the 
Governmental Entity. 

 

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation Form on behalf of the 
Governmental Entity. 

 
Signature:    

 
Name:    

 
Title:    

 
Date:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

97

Item 6e.



EXHIBIT “C” 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Janssen Settlement Participation Form 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

98

Item 6e.



Janssen Settlement Participation Form 
 

Governmental Entity: State: 
Authorized Official:  
Address 1:  
Address 2:  
City, State, Zip:  
Phone:  
Email:  

 
The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and in 
consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement 
Agreement dated July 21, 2021 (“Janssen Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned 
authorized official, hereby elects to participate in the Janssen Settlement, release all Released 
Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows. 

 
1. The Governmental Entity is aware of and has reviewed the Janssen Settlement, 

understands that all terms in this Election and Release have the meanings defined therein,  
and agrees that by this Election, the Governmental Entity elects to participate in the 
Janssen Settlement and become a Participating Subdivision as provided therein. 

 
2. The Governmental Entity shall, within 14 days of the Reference Date and prior to the 

filing of the Consent Judgment, dismiss with prejudice any Released Claims that it has 
filed. 

 
3. The Governmental Entity agrees to the terms of the Janssen Settlement pertaining to 

Subdivisions as defined therein. 
 

4. By agreeing to the terms of the Janssen Settlement and becoming a Releasor, the 
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable, 
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date. 

 
5. The Governmental Entity agrees to use any monies it receives through the Janssen 

Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein. 
 

6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental 
Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role  
as provided in, and for resolving disputes to the extent provided in, the Janssen 
Settlement. 

 
7. The Governmental Entity has the right to enforce the Janssen Settlement as provided 

therein. 
 

 
 

99

Item 6e.



8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for 
all purposes in the Janssen Settlement, including but not limited to all provisions of 
Section IV (Release), and along with all departments, agencies, divisions, boards, 
commissions, districts, instrumentalities of any kind and attorneys, and any person in 
their official capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency, 
person, or other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity 
identified in the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its 
authority. As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally, 
and irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be 
brought, filed, or claimed, or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released 
Claims against any Released Entity in any forum whatsoever. The releases provided for 
in the Janssen Settlement are intended by the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted 
so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating 
in any way to Released Claims and extend to the full extent of the power of the 
Governmental Entity to release claims. The Janssen Settlement shall be a complete bar 
to any Released Claim. 

 
9. In connection with the releases provided for in the Janssen Settlement, each 

Governmental Entity expressly waives, releases, and forever discharges any and all 
provisions, rights, and benefits conferred by any law of any state or territory of the 
United States or other jurisdiction, or principle of common law, which is similar, 
comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads: 

 
General Release; extent. A general release does not extend to claims that 
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or 
her favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her, 
would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or 
released party. 

 
A Releasor may hereafter discover facts other than or different from those which it 
knows, believes, or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each 
Governmental Entity hereby expressly waives and fully, finally, and forever settles, 
releases and discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may 
exist as of such date but which Releasors do not know or suspect to exist, whether 
through ignorance, oversight, error, negligence or through no fault whatsoever, and 
which, if known, would materially affect the Governmental Entities’ decision to 
participate in the Janssen Settlement. 

 
10. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Janssen Settlement, to 

which Governmental Entity hereby agrees. To the extent this Election and Release is 
interpreted differently from the Janssen Settlement in any respect, the Janssen Settlement 
controls. 

 
 
 

 

100

Item 6e.



11. The effective date of this Participation Form shall be the date on which the State of Georgia 
enters into the Janssen Settlement. In the event that the State of Georgia elects not to        
enter into the Janssen Settlement, this Participation Form shall be null and void and shall 
confer no rights or obligations on the State of Georgia, the Released Entities (as defined    
in the National Settlement Agreement dated July 21, 2021), or the Governmental Entity. 

 
 

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Election and Release on behalf of 
the Governmental Entity. 

 
 

Signature:    
 

Name:    
 

Title:    
 

Date:    
 

101

Item 6e.



102

Item 7a.



103

Item 7a.



104

Item 7a.



105

Item 7a.



106

Item 7a.



107

Item 7a.



108

Item 7a.



109

Item 7a.



110

Item 7a.



111

Item 7a.



112

Item 7a.



113

Item 7a.



114

Item 7a.



115

Item 7a.



116

Item 7a.



117

Item 7a.



118

Item 7a.



119

Item 7a.



120

Item 7a.



121

Item 7a.



122

Item 7a.



123

Item 7a.



124

Item 7a.



125

Item 7a.



126

Item 7a.



127

Item 7a.



128

Item 7a.



129

Item 7a.



130

Item 7a.



131

Item 7a.



132

Item 7a.



133

Item 7a.



134

Item 7a.



135

Item 7a.



136

Item 7a.



137

Item 7a.



138

Item 7a.



139

Item 7a.



140

Item 7a.



141

Item 7a.



142

Item 7a.



143

Item 7a.



144

Item 7a.



145

Item 7a.



146

Item 7a.



147

Item 7a.



148

Item 7a.



149

Item 7a.



150

Item 7a.



151

Item 7a.



152

Item 7a.



153

Item 7a.



154

Item 7a.



155

Item 7a.



156

Item 7a.



157

Item 7a.



158

Item 7a.



159

Item 7a.



160

Item 7a.



161

Item 7a.



162

Item 7a.



163

Item 7a.



164

Item 7a.



165

Item 7a.



166

Item 7a.



167

Item 7a.



168

Item 7a.



169

Item 7a.



170

Item 7a.



171

Item 7a.



172

Item 7a.



173

Item 7a.



174

Item 7a.



175

Item 7a.



176

Item 7a.



177

Item 7a.



178

Item 7a.



179

Item 7a.



180

Item 7a.



181

Item 7a.



182

Item 7a.



183

Item 7a.



184

Item 7a.



185

Item 7a.



186

Item 7a.



187

Item 7a.



188

Item 7a.



189

Item 7a.



190

Item 7a.



191

Item 7a.



192

Item 7a.



193

Item 7a.



194

Item 7a.



195

Item 7a.



196

Item 7a.



197

Item 7a.



198

Item 7a.



199

Item 7a.



200

Item 7a.



201

Item 7a.



202

Item 7a.



203

Item 7a.



204

Item 7a.



205

Item 7a.



206

Item 7a.



207

Item 7a.



208

Item 7a.



209

Item 7a.



210

Item 7a.



211

Item 7a.



212

Item 7a.



213

Item 7a.



214

Item 7a.



215

Item 7a.



216

Item 7a.



217

Item 7a.



218

Item 7a.



219

Item 7a.



220

Item 7a.



221

Item 7a.



222

Item 7a.



223

Item 7a.


	Top
	Item 3a.	Minutes
	2021.10.18 Minutes Regular
	2021.10.25 Minutes Work

	Item 4a.	Delegation a_William Wright
	2021.11.08_Delegation a_ William Wright

	Item 4b.	Delegation b_Ed Wall
	2021.11.08_Delegation b_Ed Wall Presentation

	Item 5a.	Purchase a_Insurance
	Purchase a_Insurance

	Item 6a.	Other a_Renewals
	Other a_2022 County Alcohol Blanket Renewal

	Item 6b.	Other b_GDOT MOU
	Other b _GDOT

	Item 6c.	Other c_Stormwater Agreements
	Other c _Stormwater Agreements

	Item 6d.	Other d_ARP
	Other d_ARP

	Item 6e.	Other e_Opioid Settlement
	other e_Dougherty County - Ltr re Settlements
	other e_Dougherty County Resolution

	Item 7a.	Board Appointments
	Board Appointments

	Bottom

